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and IT managed services. Moving 
forward, three new divisions will 
enable the development of a 
strong portfolio of products and 
services while consolidating all our 
infrastructure operations. 

In the same vein, we have also 
promoted two bright Emirati 
leaders to the positions of deputy 
chief executives, each with 
oversight and mandate on specific 
areas. We believe these changes 
will help us achieve EITC’s ambition 
to lead the digital transformation 
and keep us at the forefront of 
economic development in Dubai 
and the UAE. 

A strategic focus in a fast changing 
world is mandatory and the 
Board plays a vital role. Our 
Board members have held several 
strategic planning sessions, with 
the value of strategic thinking 
ranking in importance with our 
emphasis on sound governance. 

Of course, people are always 
at the heart of the success of 
corporations, so cultivating the 
right talent, nurturing potential 
leaders, and enabling high levels 
of employee engagement are key 
priorities. The world of tomorrow 
is inextricably linked to a talented 
workforce, and we are very 

conscious of the need to maintain 
our advantage in this area. 

In terms of our business 
performance during 2017, our 
revenue of AED 13.0 billion was 
the highest ever achieved by the 
company. Net profit after royalty 
amounted to AED 1.7 billion, 
equating to earnings per share of 
AED 0.38. The Board of Directors 
has recommended a final annual 
dividend of AED 0.22 per share, 
bringing total dividend for the year 
to AED 0.35 per share. 

In closing, our strategic goals are 
aligned to national plans to reinforce 
the UAE’s position as a global hub 
and a leader in the application of 
telecoms and smart technology. 

I look forward to creating value and 
strengthening our relationships 
with our shareholders, strategic 
partners, customers, and 
especially our management 
and employees who make such 
an invaluable contribution to 
our continued progress. Their 
collective effort underpins our 
success and contributes to the 
development and prosperity of 
our organisation and our country. 
I thank my fellow Board members 
for their constant dedication, 
stewardship, and support. 

Beyond connectivity: building a smart economy

Chairman’s message 

Ahmad Bin Byat
Chairman

Dear Shareholders 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 
of the Emirates Integrated 
Telecommunications Company 
PJSC (EITC), it is my honour and 
privilege to present our financial 
results for the year ended 
December 31, 2017. 

We are living in an era of rapid 
change – so much so that at times 
it is hard to believe that many 
of the technological advances 
that have come to define our life, 
business, and the global economy 
have occurred over only the past 
few years. 

This is equally true for our own 
company, as the EITC of today is 
becoming virtually unrecognisable 
from the organisation that was 
established in 2005. This trend 
accelerated during 2017 as our 
company continued to evolve and 
mature, building upon a strong 
foundation with new initiatives 
and organisational changes that 
are dramatically altering the way 
we do business. Throughout this 
process, we have created and will 
continue to create exciting new 
benefits for our customers, in
turn adding substantial value
for our shareholders. 

EITC is still a young company. 
Since our foundation, we 

have taken a vital role in the 
development of the UAE from 
multiple angles – and this is a 
commitment that we have every 
intention to continue. The UAE 
is at the core of all our strategic 
goals, which seek to contribute to 
the nation’s sustainable growth 
through digital transformation. 

The International Monetary Fund 
forecasts an economic rebound for 
the UAE in 2018. EITC plays a vital 
role in the national economy, and 
we are committed to maximising 
our contribution to its growth. 

In line with this approach is our 
intense involvement in creating 
smart city and smart district 
capabilities. We have no fewer 
than 19 smart services under 
delivery, from smart buildings to 
smart signage. As our market 
environment transforms, so must 
we, maintaining the industry 
leadership that has always been 
our hallmark. This will happen 
through the great opportunities 
brought by the Internet of Things, 
big data, data science, robotics, 
and artificial intelligence. 

This philosophy was highly 
evident in our structural changes 
during 2017, which were part of a 
strategic transformation that will 
enable expansion into new growth 
areas such as ICT, data centres 

The UAE is at the core of all  
our strategic goals, which seek  
to contribute to the nation’s  
sustainable growth through  
digital transformation.
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CEO’s message

The ICT Solutions Division will 
provide UAE government entities 
and private enterprises with 
advanced end-to-end infrastructure 
and services – including enterprise 
networks, security, data centre 
services, and Cloud services  
and applications. 

The Digital Lifestyle and 
Innovation Division will focus on 
the development of products and 
services for UAE consumers – 
including video and smart-home 
services. 

The Infrastructure Division brings 
all infrastructure related operations 
under a single EITC umbrella. 

We are now a connectivity and 
non-connectivity business – 
with equally dynamic telco and 
non-telco operations. We are 
approaching potential private 
enterprise and government clients 
with end-to-end solutions that 
handle all their needs, combining 
telecom connectivity with IT 
solutions. Our objective is to 
protect our core telecom business 
and grow our adjacent businesses. 

I am proud to report that three 
bright Emirati leaders were 
promoted within the company 
to senior leadership positions. 
Fahad Al Hassawi and Farid 
Faraidooni were appointed Deputy 

CEOs, each with oversight and 
mandate on specific areas, and 
Saleem Al Blooshi was appointed 
Chief Infrastructure Officer. We 
also strengthened our strategic 
capabilities in 2017, appointing 
Eddy Skaf as Chief Strategy Officer 
who will oversee the development 
and implementation of EITC’s 
overall corporate strategy. 

We believe our current business 
model will drive company-wide 
growth in the coming years. 
We are moving to different 
ecosystems, and the key word 
for these ecosystems will be 
‘partnerships’. 

Notable public-private 
partnerships created in 2017 
were, in addition to Dubai Smart 
City announced earlier, the Dubai 
Silicon Park, for which EITC is 
the main system integrator of 
all smart services; the Dubai 
Sports City partnership, as well 
as a public-private partnership 
with the Ministry of Interior and 
Injazat to deliver Hassantuk, a 
smart monitoring alert and control 
system for buildings in the UAE. 
We are proud of our involvement 
in developing the Dubai Pulse 
Platform, launched in 2016, where 
we provide the whole architecture 
and platform to build it, design 
it, and operate it end-to-end on 
behalf of the Smart Dubai Office. 

Osman Sultan
Chief Executive Officer

Dear Shareholders 

As our Chairman has so clearly 
noted, 2017 was a year of change 
for EITC – a year that, in times to 
come, may well be considered as 
pivotal in the growth, direction, and 
influence of our company. 

We now have two customer-facing 
brands, a new organisational 
structure, and we are moving 
beyond our traditional services 
of voice and data connectivity. 
Our entire industry is changing 
in the face of the fourth industrial 
revolution, with the Internet of 
Things, big data, and artificial 
intelligence taking centre stage. 

However, the increased reliance 
on the internet has fundamentally 
changed the way people live, work, 
and communicate – and in turn, 
we must change the way we do 
business accordingly. The UAE’s 
mobile penetration rate is already 
one of the highest in the world, 
reaching 228 per cent at the end 
of March 2017, according to the 
Telecommunications Regulatory 
Authority. Subsequent data shows 
that more than 80 per cent of 
mobile phones registered on the 
country’s mobile networks are 
smartphones. 

These recent reports underline the 
maturity of the traditional market 

and highlight how growth in this 
segment is under pressure. As 
such, we accelerated our exciting 
digital journey where our focus 
is on both the enterprise sector, 
expanding into ICT, and the 
consumer sector where we will 
grow our digital, lifestyle,
and entertainment services. 

The beginning of a new era
A clear reflection of our strategic 
transformation in 2017 was the 
change in our brand identity. The 
adoption of our company name 
EITC as our primary identity 
reflects the duality of branding 
that took effect during the year. 
du – our original brand and for 
so long our public face – has now 
been joined by the Virgin Mobile 
brand, a distinctive new all-digital 
offering that was the first of its kind 
in the UAE market, complementing 
our traditional du products and 
services while catering to changes 
in customer expectations and 
demands for certain segments  
of the market. 

In line with our intention to 
transform our company, EITC 
was restructured and we added 
three distinct business divisions, 
each with clearly defined strategic 
objectives and equally well-
considered operational plans for 
their achievement. 

A foundation for tomorrow

We are now a connectivity  
and non-connectivity business  
– with equally dynamic telco and 
non-telco operations.
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Smart Dubai is a unique public-
private partnership in the world:  
it is the digital backbone and 
beating heart of the city, and we 
are deeply honoured to play such 
a crucial role in shaping its future. 

These initiatives are indicative 
of the next phase of growth 
envisioned for EITC, enabling us 
to continue our exciting expansion 
into new business areas. They are 
a clear demonstration of the way 
EITC is adapting to the evolving 
industry and our ability  
to accommodate continued  
changes in consumer and  
business behaviour. 

Digital transformation
As we look forward to a 
smart future, we are investing 
in accelerating our digital 
transformation and driving 
EITC to becoming a fully 
integrated ICT player. 

Under the guidance of our Board, 
strategy and strategic thinking 
are now even more vital than 
ever in our business philosophy, 
as we look beyond connectivity 
for opportunities and innovation, 
and to maximise and optimise 
our resources, competencies, 
and experiences. Yet we must still 
maintain continuity, concentrating 
on well-defined priorities, refining 
our operational and organisational 
structures, and developing our 
people and their competencies. 

Record revenue 
My comments so far have 
focused mainly on our intensive 
transformation activities during 
2017 and the dynamic future that 
we envisage for EITC. However, 
our performance during the 
year and the results we achieved 
are of crucial importance to 
our shareholders and potential 
investors, and I am equally pleased 
to report a satisfactory outcome. 

We reported record revenues of 
AED 13.0 billion in 2017, compared 
to AED 12.7 billion in 2016. EBITDA 
and net profit were kept stable and 
at similar levels to 2016, bearing  
in mind the key investments  
made in Virgin Mobile and ICT.  
We maintained a good EBITDA 
margin at 40% and made 
good progress with our cost 
optimisation programme in 2017. 

Business performance in 2017 
was strong, as evident from our 
dividend declaration and the 
yield we have achieved for our 
shareholders. I am confident that 
we are on track to sustain our 
proud record of excellent returns 
for shareholders and that the 
transformation initiatives we have 
undertaken in the last year will 
become the cornerstones for  
long-term growth. 

My thanks are due to our 
Chairman and Board of Directors 
for their unwavering support and 
guidance, to our shareholders for 
their continued trust, to our loyal 
customers who are central to 
our success, to our partners who 
are crucial to the future we are 
building, and of course to my team, 
management, and all employees 
who are the main actors in 
everything we seek to achieve. 
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Alignment with the UAE’s national vision, best-practice 
corporate governance, and innovative strategic thinking to 
achieve sustained shareholder value are unwavering priorities 
for our Board of Directors.

Our Board of Directors

*Hana Al Rostamani has resigned from her position on 18 June 2017.

Our management team 

Excellence in everything we do is the guiding philosophy 
of our management team, always striving for outstanding 
performance on behalf of all stakeholders – whether 
customers, shareholders, or employees. 

Masood Mahmood
Board Member

Saeed Al Yateem
Board Member

Ahmad Bin Byat
Chairman

Khaled Balama
Vice Chairman

Homaid Al Shemmari
Board Member

Mohamed Al Suwaidi
Board Member

Hana Al Rostamani
Board Member

Abdulla Al Shamsi
Board Member

Fadhel Al Ali
Board Member

Ziad Galadari
Board Member

Ibrahim Nassir
Chief Human Capital  

and Administration Officer

Osman Sultan
Chief Executive Officer

Ananda Bose
Chief Wholesale  

and Corporate Affairs Officer

Abdulwahed Juma
Executive Vice President Brand  
and Corporate Communications

Farid Faraidooni
Deputy CEO، 
ICT Solutions

Fahad Al Hassawi
Deputy CEO,  

Telco Solutions

Amer Kazim
Chief Financial  

Officer

Eddy Skaf
Chief Strategy  

Officer

Saleem Al Blooshi
Chief Infrastructure  

Officer

Karim Benkirane
Managing Director  
Virgin Mobile UAE
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Highlights

Setting the right foundations to expand beyond our core 
business by establishing three distinct divisions, the launch 
of Virgin Mobile, and the progress towards full digitalisation 
marked 2017 as a distinguished year for EITC.

Financial

Total revenue
Total revenue grew to AED 13 billion for 2017, up by 2.2 
percent from 2016’s AED 12.7 billion. Growth in revenue is 
attributed to the increase in both mobile and fixed revenue.

Fixed revenue
Fixed revenue grew to AED 2.3 billion in 2017 
from AED 2.2 billion in 2016.

Mobile revenue
Mobile revenue grew to AED 9.7 billion in 2017  
from AED 9.6 billion in 2016.

EBITDA

EBITDA recorded for 2017 was AED 5.2 billion, a negative 
growth of 3 percent compared to the previous year’s AED 5.4 
billion. Management continue to focus on improving efficiency 
and cost control measures to maintain EBITDA levels.

Operations

Human capital

EITC focused its 2017 
strategic efforts on building 
for tomorrow – implementing 
new core efficiencies and 
business structures designed 
to maximise value.

Newly formed business 
divisions encompass ‘core’ 
and ‘beyond the core’: 
core being traditional 
telecommunications and 
beyond core exploring growth 
opportunities in ICT segments.

The launch of EITC’s second 
brand, Virgin Mobile as the 
first fully-digital offering 
marked a significant advance 
in the implementation of 
EITC’s digital strategy. 

Employee engagement was 
again central to HR priorities, 
showing a new record score 
in the annual Gallup survey. 

More than 31,000 man hours 
of training were delivered at 
all management levels, from 
supervisory to executive. 

Emiratisation reached a new 
high, concentrating on direct 
hire of UAE nationals.
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Marks of distinction

Since inception in 2005, EITC has featured prominently in 
annual telecommunications industry awards. The performance 
was maintained during the past year, when EITC and its two 
brands, du and Virgin Mobile between them amassed more 
than 60 awards at domestic, regional, and international 
presentation ceremonies.

• Our Teleport was ranked 9th Globally by 
World Teleport Association

• Telecom Review’s Best Smart City initiative 
and Best Cloud Provider 

• Five wins at the Festival of Media Awards for 
corporate and commercial campaigns

• Gold and Silver at the Warc Prize for  
MENA strategy 

• 27 wins at the MENA Cristal Awards 
• Gallup Great Workplace Award
• 2 Grand Prix and 11 other wins at Dubai Lynx
• Bronze at Digital MENA 
• datamena wins two categories at  

Global Carrier Awards 
• Smart Cities and Best Enterprise winner at 

Telecoms World Middle East Awards 
• Most Innovative New Service of the Year 

and Outstanding Customer Service for  
Virgin Mobile UAE EITC at Comms MEA

• Certificate to datamena for Excellence in 
Regional Data Centre Connectivity at Data 
Centre Dynamics Awards Middle East 

• Sustainability and Emerging Markets winner 
at the Premier International Business Awards

• Superior Satellite Services at Digital Studio 
Awards

• Best Cloud Implementation at Network  
Middle East Awards

• Service Hero Award for customer service
• Best Telco at Filipino Times Awards
• Best Cloud Infrastructure Provider and Best 

Managed Security Services Provider from 
Fortinet

• Best Business Initiative of the year at Comms MEA
• Best Customer Service Provider for Operators 

from Telecom Review
• Gulf Customer and Digital Experience Awards 

– Virgin Mobile EITC - Best App
• Gulf Customer and Digital Experience Awards 

– Virgin Mobile EITC - Best Overall Digital 
Experience

• Smart City winner at Comms MEA 

A selection of the key awards received during 2017: 
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2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Capex Additions (AEDm) 1,585 1,776 1,703 1,659 1,564

Capex as % of revenue 12.2% 14.0% 13.8% 13.6% 14.5%

With record revenue and great strides in opening new  
growth areas, 2017 was the year in which EITC built a  
strong foundation for future growth. 

Financial summary

2017 saw EITC achieve record revenue of 
AED 13 billion, underpinned by growth in 
mobile and fixed revenues as we continued 
to deliver an excellent customer experience 
through data-centric and innovative products 
and services. 

Data and digital services are key to the 
success of our business and 2017 saw EITC 
achieve another milestone for the year as it 
laid down the foundation for future growth. 
Signif icant investments were made to 
launch the Virgin Mobile brand, designed to 
complement our well-established du brand 
and help strengthen and protect market 
share in our core business. Investments were 
also made in our ICT business division, which 
is the company’s catalyst for growth as it 
enables us to leverage our digital offering 
to create more value, going beyond the 
traditional revenue streams.

Our fully-digital brand Virgin Mobile was 
successfully launched in Q3 2017, ushering 
a new era of connectivity and simplicity for 
our customers, while also reinventing the 
traditional telecom business to a more eff icient 
and lower cost base operating model.  All the 
indicators are good – positive brand attributes, 
positive customer feedback, and targeting the 
tech-savvy segment that we believe had been 
underserved in the market. 

Our relentless focus on operational 
eff iciencies continued to yield beneficial 
results. Automation, processes streamlining, 
and a tight control on operational expenses 
resulted in a solid EBITDA of AED 5.2 billion 
and a good EBITDA margin of 40%. Net 
prof it before royalty was stable at AED 3.75 
billion, compared to AED 3.86 billion in 2016. 
Net prof it after royalty was f lat at AED 1.71 
billion, compared to AED 1.75 billion in 2016. 

Financial highlights (AEDm)
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2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Total revenue 13,004 12,727 12,337 12,238 10,799

EBITDA 5,200 5,364 5,419 5,030 4,306

EBITDA% 40% 42.1% 43.9% 41.1% 39.9%

Net profit before royalty 3,749 3,864 3,862 3,702 3,014

Net profit after royalty 1,712 1,753 1,941 2,109 1,986

Free cash flow 1,302 1,672 2,267 2,188 2,329

Earnings per share (AED) 0.38 0.38 0.42 0.46 0.43

Mobile  
Mobile revenues for the year were solid 
at AED 9.7 billion, up from AED 9.6 billion 
in 2016. 

Our mobile business is robust with our total 
mobile customer base at 8.2 million in 2017, 
compared to 8.6 million at the end of 2016. 
The slight decline in our mobile customer 
base is a direct consequence of the change 
in focus to attract better quality customers, 
the benefits of which are evident in our 
progressive ARPU quarterly growth and 
increase in mobile revenues.  

Mobile ARPU for the year 2017 was  
AED 78 compared with AED 82 in 2016. 
Quarter on quarter we saw improvements 
in ARPU growth as a result of our strategy 
to concentrate on better quality customers. 
However, we are cognisant that in line with 
global industry f igures, we continue to see 
consumers opt to spend more on data 

and less on voice packages. As a result, 
we remain focused on exploring ways to 
monetise data and increase our higher value 
customer base. 

Fixed  
EITC strengthened its f ixed business during 
2017, with a 6.1% increase in total f ixed lines 
to a total of  740,000 subscribers, supported 
by growth in broadband, landline, and TV.
As a result, f ixed line revenues increased
to AED 2.3 billion, representing a 5.3% 
increase from AED 2.2 billion in 2016.

Capital expenditure
Capital expenditure was AED 1.6 billion 
in 2017, down 10.7% from AED 1.8 billion 
in 2016, a trend we expect to continue in 
the future. We have aligned our capital 
expenditure to business priorities, such 
as the fibre rollout for 5G readiness, and 
reduced investment in non-essential areas. 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

FCF (AEDm) 1,302 1,672 2,267 2,188 2,329

Cash and debt overview 
Free cash f low decreased to AED 1.30 billion, 
from AED 1.67 billion in 2016. Free cash f low 
is down due to reduced EBITDA and the 
impact of the change of handset accounting. 

Revenue from handsets is now recognised at 
the point of sale while cash is collected over 
the lifespan of the customer contract. 



Strategic review 2017 

Our strategy is focused on delivering our commitment 
of sustainable growth and value creation to our 
shareholders, by serving and delighting our customers  
and nurturing our employees. 

2017 marked the continued transformation of 
EITC, delivered by strengthening competitive 
levers around three main strategic pillars:
• A value-focused, efficient and effective core 

business
• Diversifying our revenues through the 

development of new innovative products  
and services in and beyond the core

• Differentiation through digitalisation and 
enhanced customer experience

 
These were underpinned by an effective 
delivery model enabled by next generation 
network and IT, streamlined and simplified 
end-to-end processes and best in class human 
capital, thereby building a strong foundation  
for the future. 

In line with our strategic ambitions, three 
new divisions were created – Information 
and Communications Technology (ICT) 
Solutions, Digital Lifestyle and Innovation, and 
Infrastructure. ICT Solutions and Digital Lifestyle 
and Innovation will enable EITC to actively 
develop a strong portfolio of new products 
and services in the ICT and Digital Lifestyle 
adjacencies. Infrastructure division will provide 
seamless and efficient infrastructure service to 
all our businesses.
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2017 Strategy map

Strengthen competitive levers for future > Core re-orientation

• Total revenue
• Mobile data revenue
• Enterprise revenue
• Efficiency index
• Bad debt/fraud as a % of revenue

• Revenue – ‘Beyond the core’

• Digitalisation index
• Net promoter score

Vision: To enhance your life – anytime, anywhere

Key initiatives and focus areas in 2017

Strengthen competitive levers for future > New services

Strengthen competitive levers for future > Differentiation

Build an effective delivery model

2017 Key Performance indicators

• Acceleration of fibre roll-out nationwide
• Doubled the number of mobile sites that 
 are connected to fibre
• Introduction of UAE 5G innovation gate
• Progress in digitising and automating our  
 processes 
• Committed to Emiratisation by attracting  
 and nurturing new talent 

• Transform network and IT factory
• Streamline and simplify end-to-end processes
• Develop future leaders, ensure organisational 

engagement

• Network quality index
• Emiratisation index
• EBITDA
• Free cash flow 

Strategic ambition

• Core telco connectivity
• Efficiency and effectiveness

• Introduced new data bundles
• Launched first digital mobile brand ‘Virgin Mobile’
• Focused on new business mobile plans and  
 launch of first ‘business mobile centre’
• Continued to make progress within our  
 efficiency programme RESET

• Beyond the core

• Focusing on data centre services, Dubai  
 Smart City, Cloud and a comprehensive  
 range of B2B services
• Launch of all new smart home services and  
 digital entertainment in B2C  space

• Digitalisation
• Customer experience

• First in-house e-commerce platform and  
 digital sales partnerships
• Revamped du website for all-new experience 
• Improvement in overall net promoter score  
 and customer satisfaction metrics



Strategic guidelines for 2018 and beyond

Globally, the telecom industry is facing a set 
of challenges and opportunities. There are 
challenges from OTT players, and VoIP pressure 
resulting in the commoditisation of core telecom 
services leading to revenues flattening and 
margins decreasing. At the same time, there 
is a need for continuous capital investment in 
the high performing networks. Data services, 

digital, and adjacencies beyond connectivity are 
emerging as substitutes as well as new growth 
opportunities for telecom operators.

Going forward to 2018 and beyond, EITC’s 
strategic priorities aim to focus on protecting  
and optimising the ‘core’ while seeking growth  
in ‘adjacencies’ beyond core. 
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B2B adjacencies
Providing advanced end-to-end ICT infrastructure  

and services 

ADJACENCIES
(Growth)

Data-centric monetisation
Increasing the contribution of data revenues

CORE
(Protect and optimise)

Efficiency and effectiveness transformation
Mastering our spending and shifting to digital

Fixed access
Growing national presence to fully realise

our value statement

More for more
Introducing new services to retain customers 

and grow revenue

Selective B2C/B2B2C plays
Enabling the digital lifestyle of our  

individual customers

2018-2022 Strategic Priorities

The digitalisation of our business 
will play a central role in the coming 
years, and with the consumer desire 
for our products to be more digital and 
customer-centric, we have embarked 
on a journey to create world-class 
digitised products and deliver superior 
customer experience.

Strategic guidelines for 2018 and beyond



ICT is the vehicle through which 
we are growing beyond our core 
connectivity business, venturing 
into new domains or services that 
are adjacent to the traditional telco 
business.

Operational highlights

From the launch of the first fully-digital brand in 
the UAE, Virgin Mobile, to streamlined efficiency, 
infrastructure enhancement, and further 
diversification into the ICT sector, 2017 will  
go down as a memorable year for EITC.

Capturing growth in a digital economy
With growth in traditional markets slowing as 
they reach maturity, many measures were 
designed and implemented to counteract 
this trend and to enhance value by gaining 
efficiency through better and quicker ways 
of doing business, improving the customer 
experience, and digitising and automating 
processes that were previously manual. As 
customers switch to online transactions or 
recharge through an app, the need for shops 
and physical touch-points with customers 
is reduced – with attendant cost saving.

The launch of our second brand, Virgin Mobile 
is a particularly significant achievement, being 
a completely digital mobile brand that offers an 
end-to-end digital experience, that’s entirely
app driven. 

In parallel with improved efficiency, the 
company focused intensely on expanding 
horizons beyond core telecoms, building 
ICT strengths to complement the 
traditional voice and data resources.

In the beyond-core ICT area, telco and IT 
functions are being integrated – with innovation 
as a key principle. ICT is the vehicle through 
which EITC is growing beyond its core 
connectivity business, venturing into new 
domains or services that are adjacent to 
the traditional telco businesses. This entails 
activities such as data centre services, cloud, 
big data, Internet of Things, Smart Cities, and 
a comprehensive range of B2B services.

Capacity building is ongoing and the platform 
is now fully operational, with core infrastructure 
for Smart City in place and delivering. We are 
also a strategic partner for Dubai Pulse, the new 
digital backbone of Dubai, which is part of the 
Dubai Smart City initiative. Government data is 
being ingested on to the platform, ready to be 
published and released progressively. 

This is believed to be the first and a unique 
public-private partnership with Dubai 
Government and one that is expected to have 
a long lifespan. It typifies EITC’s strategy to 
go aggressively beyond its core business and 
develop new and different capabilities that are 
not based purely on infrastructure.

Infrastructure is always crucial
However, infrastructure will be a crucial resource 
and the 2017 focus was on the future evolution 
of the technology. Primarily, 5G is the future 
– along with infrastructure that is expected to 
drive value. Therefore 5G infrastructure is being 
prepared for internet of the things, robotisation, 
and the constant evolution of technology. 

So from an investment perspective, we 
continued to roll out mobile infrastructure in 
2017, achieving almost 90 percent 4G coverage 
with a target of 98 percent for 2018.

From a core perspective, 2017 saw acceleration 
of fibre roll-out nationwide, achieving 600km 
of coverage in the Western Region, resulting in 
enhanced mobile performance. We also began 
providing fixed services to enterprises in the 
Western region, representing a breakthrough for 
2017.  Overall, we almost doubled the number of 
mobile sites that are connected to fibre, which is 
crucial to being ready for the 5G network.

Our infrastructure development now enables us 
to better serve different economic sectors such 
as banking, education, oil and gas, government, 
and the community – digitalising to provide 
smart services, to prepare cloud infrastructure 
for enterprise clients, and to enhance data centre 

resources and capabilities. By the end of  
2017, data traffic had shifted from 60% 3G  
and 40% 4G to 70% 4G and 30% 3G, due to  
the increased footprint of our infrastructure.

Capabilities were also boosted in 2017 with the 
new submarine cable becoming operational, 
serving a consortium of operators from 
Malaysia to France, including the Middle East. 
EITC’s new satellite landing station in Dubai also 
become operational, creating additional capacity 
and advanced services. Launch of 4G roaming 
added 41 new countries to the agreement. 

Customers benefit from new initiatives
Our biggest commercial news of the year was 
the launch of digital mobile services under the 
Virgin Mobile brand. Targeting digital-savvy 
customers in the UAE, Virgin Mobile’s services 
can only be accessed by the app available 
on Google Play or the Apple app store. Once 
downloaded, users can select their own number 
(with the option to transfer their existing du or 
Etisalat number to Virgin Mobile), customise their 
mobile plan according to their requirement, and 
have a SIM card personally delivered to their 
door within an hour. This is a premium offering 
with a truly innovative business model created to 
revolutionise customer experience in the sector.
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In 2017, we continued to expand our wifi 
services in a number of high footfall areas, 
including RTA serviced areas such as the Dubai 
Metro and Tram, Emaar Boulevard Downtown 
Dubai, Smart Palms at parks and beaches 
around Dubai, and malls across the country. 

We partnered with the University of Sharjah to 
collaborate on 5G and the Internet of Things 
(IoT) development as part of the UAE 5G 
Innovation Gate. As part of this partnership, we 
will build a UAE 5G and IoT innovation lab which 
university staff and students will have access to. 
Experts from du and University of Sharjah will 
jointly supervise graduate and under-graduate 
programmes with focus on practical research. 

We launched our all-new Smart Home 
Services for all UAE residents. This includes 
home automation, home monitoring, home 
entertainment, and home networking. We 
also partnered with Tink Labs, one of Hong 
Kong’s most successful start-ups. Tink Labs 
has revolutionised hospitality technology and 
together we launched ‘Handy’, the innovative 
in-room smartphone for hotels in the UAE.

We enhanced business mobile plans to meet 
the communication needs of SME businesses 
even more effectively, enabling them to 
have increased flexibility, customisation, and 
simplicity in managing the communication 
needs of their businesses and employees. 

We also launched du’s first ‘Business Mobile 
Centre’. The mobile air-conditioned bus will 
bring us closer to business customers and offer 
easier access to sales and services. Customers 
will benefit from several services, including bill 
payments, mobile number portability, contract 
renewals, and other service-related inquiries. It will 
also help du’s efforts to acquire new customers. 
The Business Mobile Centre is scheduled to stop 
at government and business customer entities, 
with operating times from 8 am to 2 pm. 

We announced our new Satellite Teleport 
Facility, located in the Al Qudra area of Dubai, 
to enable the expanding requirements of du 
broadcast customers to deliver a superior 
service with a focus on service reliability and 

close control and monitoring of services 
uplinked from there. 

We are the official partner to Smart Dubai, 
increasing bandwidth and connectivity to 
achieve the mission ‘To convert Dubai into  
the happiest city on Earth’. 

Investment generates dividends for all
We recorded several firsts under our 
digitalisation strategy – our first in-house 
e-commerce platform, our first digital sales 
partnerships (with souq.com, Amazon’s 
first partnership in the region), and our first 
centralised Digital Help and Support portal 
on du.ae. There was also a redesign of du.ae, 
resulting in increased traffic and driving 
adoption and usage of digital self-service. 

As well as serving customers in established 
areas, we are able to target new household 
developments throughout the UAE with 
the latest fibre-based home technologies. 
Investment in the fixed network infrastructure 
to the latest fibre network provides seamless 
broadband experience and boosts overall 
customer satisfaction. 

We further strengthened our triple-play offering 
through enhanced IPTV capabilities as well as 
promoting unique and exciting video services 
and device bundles. 

For mobile customers, we continued to evolve 
service offerings to match increased demand 
for data, and to enhance our postpaid plans 
beyond traditional offerings. 

New to market included a postpaid data SIM 
portfolio for consumer customers, which gives 
them generous data allowances at affordable 
monthly rates. Further attractive data bundles 
were provided by our anniversary offer, while 
roaming customers were catered for with a 
very competitive promotion. 

For pre-paid customers, we introduced a new 
concept that caters for low-end subscribers 
with affordable data packages built on time-
based data charging. 

For postpaid customers we launched the 
region’s top selling music platform Anghami, 
offering access to over 20 million Arabic 
and international songs. In October 2017 
our customers enjoyed free access to the 
newly launched Wavo entertainment app 
– an online TV in partnership with OSN, 
featuring some of the best Hollywood 
and Arabic blockbusters, HBO boxsets, 
children’s channels and live sport channels.

In November 2017 we launched our VoIP 
offering, the Internet Calling Pack for home and 
mobile customers to enjoy unlimited messages, 
voice, and video calls with anyone who 
downloads the app, across the globe.

Enterprise customers enjoyed a revamped 
portfolio with several attractive offers, resulting 
in continued year-on-year growth and 
improvements in customer satisfaction. 

To enhance product delivery, product owners, 
delivery managers, and UX designers within 
the digital team have been trained in ‘Scrum’ – 
an agile delivery framework with an emphasis 
on continuous iterations based on consumer 
insights that enable collaboration, time to 
market, and quality execution. 

A world-first fully-digital mobile experience   
The launch of Virgin Mobile as the first fully-
digital offering was a major EITC milestone in 
2017, marking an advance in our digital strategy 
and a paradigm shift for customer experience in 
the market.

The launch of our second brand is highly 
significant, not only for EITC but for the 
entire regional market and the telco industry 
worldwide. The business model is different from 
its traditional predecessors, featuring a host 
of innovations designed to improve the mobile 
experience for consumers.

Virgin Mobile is targeting tech-savvy customers, 
based on an app available to download on Apple’s 
App Store or Google’s Play Store. The app – the 
first of its kind globally – enables customers 
to handpick their own mobile number, build a 

customised 30-day mobile plan, scan their ID and 
have their SIM card delivered anywhere in the UAE 
within an hour. The plan is highly flexible – with the 
option to pause or cancel the subscription at any 
time, another first for the UAE market. 

Customers can also use the app to track their 
data and minutes usage in real time and set up 
monthly spend limits. The credit and debit card 
only subscription-based model means that there 
is no need for a contract, giving customers the 
flexibility to decide how they want to manage 
their mobile usage.

But Virgin’s role is not restricted to generating new 
revenue streams and a new customer base; it also 
exists to drive market leadership in innovation for 
EITC. Its digital transformation and segmented 
approach illustrates how EITC is taking bold 
steps forward and building world- class digital 
experiences for consumers.

The successful launch of Virgin Mobile 
demonstrates the strength of our strategic 
vision to introduce a digital proposition 
with such futuristic credentials. Customer 
satisfaction surveys are very positive, scoring 
above 90 percent from about 5,000 to 
6,000 responses every month. Comment 
on social media underlines the favourable 
reaction, testimony to the quality of the 
product and the customer-first focus. 

Further endorsement comes in the form of 
industry awards, with Virgin Mobile winning 
‘Most Innovative New Service of the Year’ and 
‘Outstanding Customer Service’ at Comms 
MEA and ‘Best App’ and ‘Best Overall Digital 
Experience’ at the Gulf Experience Awards.

In being entirely app-based and requiring a 
credit card to activate, Virgin Mobile targets an 
underserved and tech-savvy market segment. 
Therefore, it protects the core segment of the 
du brand and ensures that each hits the right 
market segments, serving and growing their 
respective customer base.
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Corporate governance overview

By continuously monitoring and amending our 
governance policies to support our overall business 
model, we strive to ensure that we are always at the 
forefront of best practice while providing the kind of 
agility required to be a world-class, forward-thinking 
telecommunications operator.

Our governance
By continuously monitoring and amending 
our governance policies to support our 
overall business model, we strive to ensure 
that we are always at the forefront of best 
practice while providing the kind of agility 
required to be a world-class, forward-thinking 
telecommunications operator.

Delivery of transformation plans 
Our leadership’s nature is to strive for better 
achievements by fulf illing the fundamental 
foundation of good governance to deliver 
long-term benefits. Our commitment to best 
practices means that we also aim to exceed 
the regulatory limits for compliance. We 
believe that by this action we are protecting 
our shareholders’ value and maintaining trust 
with our stakeholders. 

Throughout 2017, EITC continued to work hard 
in the delivery of transparent, accountable 
governance that goes beyond the industry 
standard. We have maintained a strong 
position in terms of regulatory compliance and 
shareholder communications, recognizing that 
this underpins each and every achievement, 
while delivering tangible, long-term benefits. 
For our Board of Directors, its committees, 
and all employees, the company has 
implemented best-practice principles and 
regulations of corporate governance to sustain 

our business, in line with the UAE vision to 
build a strong and integrated economy. 

Development of the company’s  
strategy and business objectives  
We recognise that our success is ultimately 
determined by the way in which we deliver 
real-time value. To do this we have explored 
and implemented new methodologies whereby 
we can address and support EITCs strategic 
repositioning and streamline operations 
to maximise eff iciencies, while keeping our 
shareholders regularly informed. 

EITC not only continues to play its part in the 
pursuit of the UAE national agenda, but has 
taken a leadership role in developing the UAE 
as a strong, innovative, and technology-driven 
economy. But innovation is also something we 
also pursue internally.
 
Review of recommendations arising out of 
the Board’s performance evaluation 
The company continues to monitor 
developments in good governance to make 
sure that we are always at the forefront of 
best practice. In 2017, EITC underwent a 
comprehensive and detailed governance maturity 
assessment, performed over a five-month period 
by Deloitte. The outcome of this report was 
overwhelmingly positive, confirming that EITC is 
at a mature stage of governance development. 

Strengthening the company’s control 
Recommendations were made by Deloitte 
following the consultants’ study that we began 
to implement in Q4 of 2017. This included close 
examination of our control framework and risk 
management. We are now in the process of 
creating a second line of defence where the risk 
management function and compliance function 
is independent from the first line (the business 
line). In the coming year, we will be appointing a 
department head for this function, reporting to 
management on risk and compliance. 

The Internal Control (IC) department in 2017 
conducted a comprehensive revamp of its 
structure, processes, and approach. In 2018,  
IC will operate a more incisive SME-based 
(subject matter expert) department with 
an increased focus on financial audit and 
automation of audit processes, with further 
adoption of continuous auditing and robotics 
process automation.

Throughout 2016, our Board of Directors 
worked hard to develop a number of 
frameworks which were focused on the 
continuous improvement of our operations 
and the reinforcement of our corporate 
culture, comprising solid business ethics 
across our departments and employees. 
Those frameworks provided tangible 
benefits to the business in 2017, streamlining 

operations and creating internal resilience in 
preparation for the future. Furthermore, our 
Board has made a decision to form an Insiders 
Committee that monitors insider trading and 
ensures implementation of the Company’s 
policies and procedures with respect to the 
trading of Board members and employees  
in the securities issued by the company.

Engaging with shareholders 
Engaging with shareholders and being fully 
aware of their views is one key aspect of 
good corporate governance. During the year, 
we have undertaken a number of activities in 
this regard and have continually developed 
methods of communication with our 
stakeholders to ensure that all those related 
to our business are kept up to date in timely 
and eff icient manner. Following the creation 
and implementation of new communication 
channels, which include a specially designed 
Investor Relations app, we have created an 
environment where our shareholders and  
the Board are able to communicate freely  
and promptly, and that all our stakeholders 
are kept up-to-date. 

Commitment of our Board members’ is also 
seen by most of them attending all four of 
our general meetings held in 2017. Normally 
we hold only two general meetings per year, 
but special circumstances, including the 
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amendment of our Articles of Association to 
comply with the new Commercial Companies 
Law and undertaking a capital reduction to 
cancel an employee stock ownership plan, 
required us to inform our shareholders and 
obtain their approval.

Further review of succession planning 
and talent management for senior 
management
EITC understands the importance of 
human capital, and identifying talent for 
the future within our organisation. With our 
strategic restructuring in 2017 has come 
the opportunity to solidify our succession 
plan, as evident in is evidenced through the 
announcement of the restructuring  
and appointment of two deputy CEOs. 
 
We have also continued to ensure our 
compliance with the decision of the Securities 
and Commodities Authority (SCA) Board of 

Directors No (7/R.M) 2016, regularly reviewing 
and maintaining our high standards regarding 
institutional standards of discipline and the 
governance of public joint stock companies. 
We also continue to monitor, study, and 
implement best practice methodologies that 
complement the governance of our business 
and overall business culture. We also worked 
with the Hawkamah Institute for Corporate 
Governance to provide Board training on the 
latest corporate governance practices. This is 
now planned to be a regular undertaking.

EITC also continues to be mindful of regulatory 
developments in the global market that may 
impact our shareholders and governance 
processes, while preserving and protecting our 
shareholder’s equity by continuing to evolve our 
corporate governance practices, including but 
not limited to the proper and full disclosure of 
company finances through quarterly statements 
to shareholders, investors, and the public.

We also continue to monitor, 
study, and implement best practice 
methodologies that complement the 
governance of our business and 
overall business culture.
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Our over-riding objective is to be a truly responsible 
business in line with global benchmarks, and to 
deliver tangible and sustainable impact for the 
UAE’s economy, society, and environment. 

Sustainability and community engagement 

We are extremely privileged to act as 
ambassadors of the UAE. As such we 
believe it is our responsibility to take the 
lead in sustainability and champion socially 
responsible corporate practices in the UAE. 
We strive to reduce our environmental 
footprint, and engage in sustainable projects 
that foster a supportive work environment
and improve the communities we touch. 

In response to a recent stakeholder 
engagement exercise we have revised our 
sustainability strategy to: 
• Deliver the benefits of ICT to everyone
• Make our people and communities happier
• Operate ethically and responsibly

Our sustainability strategy is now closely 
aligned with the United Nations’ 17 sustainable 
development goals. 

Our people
Our most valuable asset is our people. Hence, 
employee engagement remains a priority 
for us. During 2017, we continued to listen 
to our people so that we could constantly 
improve our work environment, going as 
far as improving our management system 
and reward system in response to their 
feedback. Other initiatives to drive employee 
engagement included:
• Our Innovative Ideas Award which encourages 

our employees to contribute to our operation. 
Last year, we received a total of 7,500+ ideas 
of which 1,500+ have been implemented.

• Our Employee Engagement Department 
Champions network, which helps under-
performing departments improve using 
one-to-one and team coaching sessions  
to share best practices and practical tips.

Our du University has become a major 
channel for professional development. The 
university offers training through a number 
of schools and academies including: the 
School of Leadership, School of Technology, 
Contact Centre Academy, and Enterprise 
Sales Academy. In 2017, employees received 
an average of 41.5 man hours of additional 
training from the university, delivering a total 
of 31,259 man hours of training. Additionally, 
du University continues to provide training  
to our retail partners, including call centres  
in Egypt and India.

We believe the makeup of our company 
should reflect the nation in which it was built. 
Therefore we have set ourselves the objective 
of achieving 37 percent Emiratisation by 2020, 
up from 33 percent in 2017. As part of our 
committed to the recruitment, training, and 
retention of Emirati talent, we have created 
the Roeya programme. The programme 
offers coaching, mentoring, on the job, and 
classroom training to our Emirati employees, 
helping them progress in their careers and 
preparing them for roles in key departments 
in our company, such as f inance, operations, 
marketing, and communications. 

Continuing our focus on wellness we have 
created several new initiatives to encourage 
our employees to engage in a more active 
lifestyle. Following the lead set out by His 
Highness Sheikh Hamdan Bin Mohammed 
Bin Rashid Al Maktoum, we participated in the 
Dubai Fitness Challenge (DXB 30x30) ranking 
f irst in the main private corporate category. 
In addition to this, we have a team mandated 
with organising wellness activities throughout 
the year, designed to maintain and improve 
the health and wellbeing of our people.  

Our wellness programme delivered outstanding 
results, with a visible improvement in the overall 
health and wellbeing of our people as evidenced 
by the reduced cost of our employee medical 
insurance and a 15-20% decrease in the number 
of absentee days over the past three years. 

Our commitment to driving employee 
engagement has resulted in an increase in our 
Gallup score from 3.32 in 2008 to 4.46 in 2017, 
placing us in the 78th percentile of the Gallup 
Global database.  As of 31 December, 2017 we 
employed a total of 1,614 full-time employees 
(1,166 male and 448 female) at du and 63 full-
time employees (28 male and 35 female) at 
Virgin Mobile UAE and pride ourselves in offering 
them professional development opportunities 
and a good working environment to help them 
achieve their full potential.

Our customers
Our customers are integral to our success. 
Therefore we continued to seek their feedback 
through our Voice of the Customer programme 
and improved our product offering to meet 
their needs. Throughout the year we launched 
72 initiatives to improve our customer 
experience including reducing customer wait 
times to just a few minutes at our stores. 

As cyber privacy and security becomes an 
ever increasing priority for our customers, we 
partnered with UAE-based security solutions 
provider DarkMatter to enhance cyber security 
for our enterprise customers, resulting in us 
being named Best Managed Security Services 
provider in the Middle East by Fortinet. During 
the year, we also partnered with NMC Healthcare 
in UAE to implement electronic health records 
with the use of blockchain technology.

We maintained and formed a range of 
partnerships to offer our customers  
exclusive deals:
• Our association with Dubai Opera allowing 

us to provide exclusive customer offers for 
performances

• Our partnership with the Entertainer 
provided our customers with over 1,500 
buy one get one free offers on food, leisure, 
f itness, and entertainment

We conducted social return on 
investment research for the BabNoor 
project that showed for every dirham 
of investment, the project returned 
more than six dirhams of social 
impact on children, teachers, and 
parents.
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• du Live! bringing our customers exclusive 
access to a number of exciting acts

• du Tuesday offers cinema goers buy one 
get one free cinema tickets

Our environment
Our base transceiver stations (BTS) and 
data centres are our biggest consumers of 
energy. In 2017, we connected a number of 
BTS sites to the main grid instead of running 
on generators. The conversion has resulted in 
signif icant savings - close to 1 million litres of 
diesel. Our network also has 11 sites that run 
entirely on solar power. 

Further action was taken to minimise our 
environmental impact in non-infrastructure 
areas – achieving 27 percent energy saving in 
off ices, 12 percent in shops, and 9 percent in 
call centres. We now save over 324,269 KW of 
energy at our three LEED Platinum Certif ied 
stores since the launch of the respective 
stores, saving us over AED 133,098 in terms 
of energy spending. 

During the year, we reduced the number of 
vehicles in our fleet by a further 10% (total of 
87 vehicles at the moment). 

Our e-billing service has reduced paper 
consumption from 37.43 tons in 2015 to 15.38 
tons in 2017, and printer cartridge usage has 
been cut by almost 60 percent since 2013. 
We continue to recycle our hazardous 
material used in our operations (199 tons) 
and redesigned the SIM card packaging by 
completely removing the information card and 
the metal pin – thus further reducing paper, 
and completely eliminating metal usage. 

In 2015, we launched our Equipment Donation 
Policy to minimise waste and support charities. 
As part of this policy, we donated 120 used 
computers to Dar Al Ber, which were then given 
to two charity schools in the UAE – Al Manama 
Charity School and Al Salaf Al Saleh School. 

We are committed to maintaining our 
environment by ensuring our suppliers and 
vendors adhere to the highest possible 
environmental standards. Our procurement 

policy makes sure that all dealings with 
vendors are fair, competitive, and free of 
conflict. We evaluate suppliers not only 
on cost and quality, but also on social and 
environmental responsibility. We prioritise 
local entrepreneurs, and last year we 
purchased AED 5.5 million worth of goods
and services from Emirati SME vendors. 

Our community
We believe that seamless communication, 
enabled by technology is a basic human right. 
Our Babnoor app offers children with special 
needs this basic right and allows for easy 
and effective communication for children of 
determination with a range of disabilities. In 
nearly two years since its launch, BabNoor 
has improved the lives of more than 2,000 
students with special needs and their teachers 
across the UAE. Recently, we conducted 
social return on investment research for the 
BabNoor project. The assessment shows that 
for every dirham of investment, the project 
returned more than six dirhams of social 
impact on children, teachers, and parents. 

Throughout the Year of Giving we achieved 
our annual volunteering target of 10,000 
hours. Our flagship community volunteering 
and giving initiative, Mawaed Al Rahman, 
continued to bring communities together 
during Ramadan. Working with Tarahum 
Charity Foundation for the third time, we 
provided more than 16,000 boxes of food to 
poor families across Dubai and the Northern 
Emirates. Community volunteering is a huge 
part of this initiative’s success: 2017 saw 1,496 
UAE citizens and residents contribute more 
than 8,800 hours of their time. 

His Excellency Dr. Thani Ahmed Al Zeyoudi, 
Minister of Climate Change and Environment 
for the United Arab Emirates, joined our CEO 
and other #duvolunteers to complete the f irst 
10,000 food boxes in the f irst eight days of 
the Mawaed Al Rahman initiative. We were also 
joined by 57 young people of determination 
from the Rashid Centre for the Disabled, 
Mawaheb Centre, and the Tender Hearts 
Arena to experience the joy of volunteering 
and giving back to the community.

During the year, we joined hands with Cartoon 
Network Arabic to launch the channel’s Young 
Programmers campaign. This online platform is 
designed specifically to give young children and 
early teens the opportunity to code online. 

In mid-2017, we launched our youth council as 
part of the International Youth Day celebration 
across the country. The ‘du Youth Council’ is 
specif ically created to empower the UAE youth 
and enhance their contribution towards the 
nation’s development in the ICT sector. The 
platform will enable young people to unlock 
their career potential. During the year, the 
youth council organised a Youth Circle Event 
under the title of ‘Developing Today’s Digital 
World Leaders’, as well as an exclusive trip to 
Wahat Al Karama in Abu Dhabi to honour the 
martyrs of the UAE. 

To help create a culture that addresses cyber-
bullying and promotes safe internet usage, 
we organised a number of cyber safety 
awareness sessions for hundreds of students 
in Dubai. On a similar note, our HSE team 

conducted a number of health and safety 
sessions for students across Dubai. These 
sessions covered topics such as f ire safety 
and emergency preparedness and response. 

We celebrated Emirati Women’s Day with a 
special event that honoured the incredible 
achievements of the nation’s women and 
the inspiring role they have taken in the 
development and advancement of the UAE. 
The du Emirati Women’s Day event hosted a 
‘Circle of Talks’ that included interactive and 
inspirational sessions led by well-recognised 
female personalities in the UAE.  

On the occasion of the 46th National Day, we 
launched the ‘UpForIt’ campaign as a tribute 
to all community segments who contribute to 
achieving and making the impossible possible 
in the UAE. The citizens and residents of the 
UAE turn challenges into opportunities daily to 
endorse the efforts of the UAE, to achieve glory 
in numerous international forums, and to raise 
the country’s name to become one of the top 
globally developed countries. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of the 
Emirates Integrated Telecommunications Company PJSC. 

Consolidated financial statements

Our opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position 
of Emirates Integrated Telecommunications 
Company PJSC (‘the Company’) and its 
subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’) as at  
31 December 2017, and its consolidated  
financial performance and its consolidated  
cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

What we have audited
The Group’s consolidated financial statements 
comprise:
• The consolidated statement of financial 

position as at 31 December 2017
• The consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income for the year  
then ended

• The consolidated statement of cash flows  
for the year then ended

• The consolidated statement of changes  
in equity for the year then ended and

• The notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, which include a summary  
of significant accounting policies. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). 
Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the (Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements) 
section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (IESBA Code) and other 
independence requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in the United Arab Emirates.  
We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA Code.  

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our audit approach 
As part of designing our audit, we determined 
materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the consolidated financial 
statements. In particular, we considered where 
management made subjective judgements;  
for example, in respect of significant accounting 
estimates that involved making assumptions 
and considering future events that are 
inherently uncertain. 

The areas, in our professional judgement, that 
were of most significance to the audit (‘Key 
audit matters’) and where we focused most 
audit efforts identified during the year were:
• Carrying value of goodwill.
• Federal royalty.
• Revenue recognition – accuracy of revenue 

recorded given the complexity of  
the systems.

• IT systems and controls.

We have set out below our explanation of each 
item and a summary of the audit approach. 

As in all of our audits, we also addressed 
the risk of management override of internal 
controls, including among other matters 
consideration of whether there was evidence 
of bias that represented a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order 
to perform sufficient work to enable us 
to provide an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole, taking into 
account the structure of the Group, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the 
industry in which the Group operates. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of the 
Emirates Integrated Telecommunications Company PJSC 
(continued)

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in 
our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current year. 

These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the  
Key audit matter Key audit matter How our audit addressed the  

Key audit matter

Carrying value of goodwill
The Group has goodwill of AED 549 million 
contained within two cash generating 
units (‘CGU’) as referred to in Note 7 to 
the consolidated financial statements. We 
focused on the area due both to the size of the 
goodwill balance and because of judgments 
involved about the future results and key 
assumptions involved in management’s 
assessment of the carrying value.
 
No impairment charges have been 
recognised in previous or current periods, 
as management have concluded that 
there was no impairment of goodwill. With 
challenging trading conditions, increasing 
fixed line competition in the Group’s fixed 
network areas and pressure on margins, the 
Group’s performance and prospects could 
be impacted in the relevant fixed line and 
broadband segments, increasing the risk of 
goodwill impairment. 

For the CGUs that contain goodwill, 
determination of recoverable amount is 
based on a value-in-use model. This requires 
judgment on the part of management in 
both identifying and then valuing the relevant 
CGUs.  Recoverable amounts are based on 
management’s view of variables such as 
estimates of future revenues, margins and 
operating expenses, timing and extent of 
future maintenance capital expenditure, growth 
rates and the most appropriate discount rate. 

Carrying value of goodwill (continued)
Refer to Notes 2.3 and 7 to the consolidated 
financial statements for critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions used by 
management.

Federal royalty
The Federal royalty is a significant charge 
levied against regulated revenues of the 
Group and against operating profits, based 
on fixed percentages, as disclosed in Note 24 
to the consolidated financial statements.

The royalty charge set out in Note 24 for the 
year is AED 2,038 million with an accrual at
31 December 2017 of AED 2,054 million.

The royalty calculations are subject to the 
use of certain judgments, interpretations 
and assumptions in respect of the definition 
of regulated items, the determination of 
certain allowable deductions and allocated 
costs and the treatment of royalties on site 
sharing transactions. These are also subject 
to change from time to time as the guidelines 
provided by the UAE Ministry of Finance  
(‘the MoF’) are amended or as clarifications 
are received from the MoF.

We evaluated the appropriateness of 
management’s identification of the CGUs 
and the continued satisfactory operation 
of the Company’s controls over the 
impairment assessment process. 

Our procedures mainly included challenging 
management on the suitability of the 
impairment model and reasonableness of 
the assumptions used through performing 
the following:
• assessment of assumptions used in 

relation to forecast revenues, margins, 
operating costs and maintenance capital 
expenditure expected on the relevant 
network;

• performing independent sensitivity 
analysis on cash flows, growth rates, 
discount rates and where applicable 
validation of growth and discount rates 
against external sources of data;

• testing the mathematical accuracy of the 
cash flow models and agreeing relevant data 
to Board approved long-term plans; and

• assessing the reliability of management’s 
forecast through a review of actual 
performance against previous forecasts.

We considered the appropriateness of 
the related disclosures in Note 7 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

We have reviewed the guidelines provided to 
the Group by the MoF, together with other 
relevant correspondence,  and assessed the 
segregation of items between regulated and 
other activities and items which the Group 
judges as not subject to Federal royalty or 
which may be set off against revenue which 
is subject to Federal royalty. In addition, we 
have reviewed the management controls 
around the calculation and approval of the 
Federal royalty charge. 

We have performed the following:
• assessed management’s interpretation 

of regulated and unregulated activities 
through review of the guidelines, 
discussions with management and 
consideration of the history of settled 
positions with the MoF; 

• tested the mathematical accuracy of 
the calculation and agreed them to the 
underlying supporting data; and assessed 
the appropriateness of the related 
disclosures in Note 24 of the consolidated 
financial statements.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of the 
Emirates Integrated Telecommunications Company PJSC 
(continued)

Key audit matter (continued) How our audit addressed the  
Key audit matter Key audit matter (continued) How our audit addressed the  

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition - accuracy of revenue 
recorded given the complexity
of the systems
There is an inherent risk around the 
accuracy of revenue recognised given the 
complexity of the systems and changing 
mix of business products and services, 
including the variety of plans available 
for consumer and enterprise customers, 
tariff structures, roaming and international 
hubbing (‘wholesale’) agreements, site 
sharing agreements, incentive programmes 
and discounts. 

The application of the revenue recognition 
accounting standard is complex and involves 
a number of key judgments and estimates. 

Refer to Notes 3.14 and 2.3 for accounting 
policies and critical accounting estimates and 
judgements respectively.

IT systems and controls
We place high reliance on the Group’s IT 
systems and key internal controls, a normal 
practice for a telecom audit. This resulted in a 
significant portion of our audit effort directed 
towards this area.

Our focus was on understanding and 
validating the impacts of key changes being 
made to the control environment having 
established an extensive understanding and 
baseline in the previous years.

The Group is in the process of replacing 
and upgrading various IT systems to 
enhance business effectiveness and 
improve efficiency. These also include 
improvements to user access controls 
in respect of a number of key systems. 
Some of these are in the process of 
implementation, but are not yet finalised. 

Our audit approach included a combination 
of controls testing and substantive 
procedures which covered the following:
• testing the relevant infrastructure 

technology (IT) environment in which 
billing, rating and other relevant support 
systems reside, including the change 
control procedures in place around 
systems that generate revenues; 

• performing tests on the accuracy of 
customer bills generation on a sample 
basis;

• carrying out test call samples in order 
to obtain comfort over the rating and 
duration by extracting data from support 
systems; 

• testing third-party key reconciliations 
to wholesale revenue recognised in the 
general ledger; 

• reviewing significant new contracts and 
regulatory determinations, understanding 
and testing the related revenue and other 
accounting treatments and entries; and

• testing the nature and accounting for a 
sample of discounts.  

We also considered the application of the 
Group’s accounting policies to amounts 
billed and accrued, and the accounting 
implications of new postpaid, fixed line and 
broadcast business initiatives to assess 
whether the Group’s accounting policies 
were appropriate for these initiatives and 
were followed.

We have performed detailed end-to-end 
walkthroughs of the finance and operational 
processes, utilising our understanding 
from the prior years to reassess the design 
effectiveness of the key internal controls and 
identify changes.

We then conducted testing of the operating 
effectiveness of these controls to obtain 
sufficient, appropriate evidence that they 
operated throughout the year as intended. 

In response to the changes and control 
enhancements made during the year, we 
performed the following:
• reviewed the design of the controls 

to ensure they mitigated any financial 
reporting risks and tested samples 
from the controls that resulted from the 
enhancements; 

• where systems were changed or 
enhanced during the year, we tested the 
IT general controls;

• tested enhanced user access 
management controls and logging of user 
access;

• tested controls and performed additional 
substantive procedures of key general 
ledger account reconciliations and manual 
journals; and

• where necessary we amended our 
planned audit approach and performed 
additional substantive testing.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of the 
Emirates Integrated Telecommunications Company PJSC 
(continued)

Other information 
The Directors are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
Chairman’s message and Chief Executive Officer’s 
review (but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon) which we obtained prior to the date 
of this auditor’s report, and the Group’s 
complete Annual Report, which is expected 
to be made available to us after that date. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not and will not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information identified above 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the 
other information that we obtained prior to the 
date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the Group’s complete Annual 
Report, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to 
communicate the matter to those charged with 
governance. 

Responsibilities of management and those 
charged with governance for the consolidated 
financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
and their preparation in compliance with the 
applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law 
No. (2) of 2015, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial 
statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible 
for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. 

We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material 

misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of 
management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as 
a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of 
the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with 
governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with 
governance with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and 
to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements (continued)
From the matters communicated with those 
charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements 
Further, as required by the UAE Federal 
Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:
1) we have obtained all the information 

we considered necessary for 
the purposes of our audit;

2) the consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared and comply, in all material 
respects, with the applicable provisions 
of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015;

3) the Group has maintained 
proper books of accounts;

4) the financial information included in the 
Chairman’s message and Chief Executive 
Officer’s review is consistent with the 
books of account of the Group; 

5) as disclosed in Note (8) to the consolidated 
financial statements, the Group has 
purchased or invested in certain shares 
during the year ended 31 December 2017;

6) Note (12) to the consolidated financial 
statements discloses material related 
party transactions and the terms 
under which they were conducted;

7) based on the information that has been 
made available to us, nothing has come 
to our attention which causes us to 
believe that the Group has contravened 
during the year ended 31 December 
2017 any of the applicable provisions of 
the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 or 
in respect of the Company, its Articles 
of Association which would materially 
affect its activities or its financial 
position as at 31 December 2017; and

8) Note (22) to the consolidated financial 
statements discloses the social 
contributions made during the 
year ended 31 December 2017.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
14 February 2018

Douglas O’Mahony
Registered Auditor Number 834
Dubai, United Arab Emirates 

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of the 
Emirates Integrated Telecommunications Company PJSC 
(continued) As at 31 December

Note
2017

AED 000
2016

AED 000
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets and goodwill

Investments accounted for using the equity method
Available-for-sale financial asset
Derivative financial instruments 

Trade and other receivables

6
7
8
9

10
11

8,520,866
1,130,332

142,086
18,368
13,594
94,631

8,449,197
1,173,469

113,935
18,368
6,280

32,373

Total non-current assets 9,919,877 9,793,622

Current assets
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Due from related parties
Short term investments
Cash and bank balances 

11
12
13
14

99,383
2,139,855

186,196
5,025,000

461,125

39,579
1,968,517

220,147
6,150,000

239,498

Total current assets 7,911,559 8,617,741

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Due to related parties
Borrowings

15
12
16

5,808,546
20,294

1,461,318

5,838,210
12,736

783,473

Total current liabilities 7,290,158 6,634,419

Net current assets 621,401 1,983,322

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits
Other provisions

16
17
18

2,156,344
236,072
110,924 

3,596,356
225,627
102,021 

Total non-current liabilities 2,503,340 3,924,004

Net assets 8,037,938 7,852,940

Represented by
Share capital and reserves

Share capital
Share premium

Other reserves, net of treasury shares
Retained earnings 

19
20
21

4,532,906
232,332

2,426,559
846,141

4,571,429
393,504

2,003,042
884,965

Total equity 8,037,938 7,852,940

Consolidated statement of financial position

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 14 February 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Ahmad bin Byat Osman Sultan
Chairman Chief Executive Officer 
The notes on pages 49 to 94 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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For the year ended 31 December

Note
2017

AED 000
2016

AED 000
Revenue

Interconnect costs
Product costs

Staff costs
Network operation and maintenance

Commission
Outsourcing and contracting

Telecommunication license and related fees
Marketing 

Rent and utilities
Other expenses

Other income

31

22

13,004,372
(3,051,009)

(1,015,111)
(980,326)
(708,624)
(415,347)
(405,529)
(317,076)

(318,988)
(118,371)

(478,499)
4,228

12,726,648
(2,984,383) 

(754,259) 
(967,807) 
(704,599)
(402,434) 
(441,246) 
(351,416) 
(337,371) 
(110,309) 
(359,515) 

50,069 

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (EBITDA)

Depreciation and impairment
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets

6
7

5,199,720
(1,383,088)

(138,147)

5,363,378
(1,368,677)

(158,948)

Operating profit 3,678,485 3,835,753

Finance income
Finance expense

Share of profit of investment in an associate accounted for  
using equity method

23
23

8

164,048
(102,661)

9,485

143,060
(117,884)

3,068

Profit before royalty 3,749,357 3,863,997

Royalty 24 (2,037,571) (2,111,441)

Profit for the year 1,711,786 1,752,556

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Items that may be re-classified  
subsequently to profit or loss

Fair value changes on cash flow hedge 21 7,314 3,247

Items that will not be re-classified  
to profit or loss

Actuarial (loss)/gain on defined benefit obligations 17 7,086 (13,252)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year 14,400 (10,005)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable 
entirely to shareholders of the Company 1,726,186 1,742,551

Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED) 25 0.38 0.38

Non-cash transaction
Cancellation of treasury shares, reduction in share capital and reduction in share premium is a non-cash transaction. 
Details are provided in Note 19.1.

For the year ended 31 December

Note
2017

AED 000
2016

AED 000
Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before royalty
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and impairment
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits
Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables
Release of provision for impairment of trade receivables

Finance income 
Finance costs

Adjustment for change in discount rate
Unwinding of discount on asset retirement obligations

Share of profit of investments accounted for
using equity method

Changes in working capital

6
7

17
11
11

23
23
18
18

8
26

3,749,357

1,383,088
138,147
38,013

307,256
-

(164,048)
102,661

(3,157)
4,137

(9,485)
(420,124)

3,863,997

1,368,677
158,948

33,906
134,729
(37,441)

(143,060)
117,884

-
3,543

(3,068)
(75,822)

Cash generated from operations
Royalty paid

Payment of employees’ end of service benefits
24
17

5,125,845
(2,087,574)

(28,929)

5,422,293
(1,947,457)

(15,318)

Net cash generated from operating activities 3,009,342 3,459,518
Cash flows used in investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Payment for additional investments accounted for 
using equity method

Payment for available-for-sale financial asset acquired
Interest received

Margin on guarantees placed
Short term investments released 

8

(1,480,743)
(197,968)

(18,666)
-

182,273
(52,253)

1,125,000

(1,580,807)
(175,983)

-
(18,368)

73,146
(2,641)

50,000

Net cash used in investing activities (442,357) (1,654,653)

Cash flows used in financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings

Interest paid
Dividends paid 21

21,306
(783,473)

(94,256)
(1,541,188)

50,204
(161,833)
(111,095)

(1,508,572)

Net cash used in financing activities (2,397,611) (1,731,296)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year    

169,374
228,705

73,569
155,136

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 14 398,079 228,705

Consolidated statement of cash flows Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

The notes on pages 49 to 94 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. The notes on pages 49 to 94 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

(1) An interim cash dividend of AED 0.13 per share (2016: AED 0.13 per share) amounted to AED 589,278 thousand 
(2016: AED 594,286 thousand) was paid during the year.

(2) A final cash dividend of AED 0.22 per share (2016: AED 0.21 per share) amounted to AED 997,239 thousand
 (2016: AED 951,910 thousand) is proposed.

Share 
capital  

(Note 19) 
AED 000 

Share 
premium  
(Note 20) 
AED 000

Other 
reserves, 

net of 
treasury 

shares
(Note 21)
AED 000

Retained 
earnings 
AED 000

Total  
AED 000

At 1 January 2016
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

4,571,429
-
-

393,504
-
-

1,987,804
-

3,247

865,919
1,752,556

(13,252)

7,818,656
1,752,556
(10,005)

Total 4,571,429 393,504 1,991,051 2,605,223 9,561,207

Transfer to statutory reserve
Transfer to retained earnings

Interim cash dividend(1)

Final cash dividend proposed(2)

Cash dividends paid
Acquisition of treasury shares 

-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

175,256
(1,194)

594,286
951,910

(1,508,572)
(199,695)

(175,256)
1,194

(594,286)
(951,910)

-
-

-
-
-
-

(1,508,572)
(199,695)

Total transactions with shareholders 
recognised directly in equity

 
- - 11,991 (1,720,258) (1,708,267)

At 31 December 2016 4,571,429 393,504 2,003,042 884,965 7,852,940

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income/(loss)

-
-

-
-

-
7,314

1,711,786
7,086

1,711,786
14,400

Total 4,571,429 393,504 2,010,356 2,603,837 9,579,126

Transfer to statutory reserve 
Interim cash dividend(1)

Final cash dividend proposed(2)

Cash dividends paid
Cancellation of treasury shares

-
-
-
-

(38,523)

-
-
-
-

(161,172)

171,179
589,278
997,239

(1,541,188)
199,695

(171,179)
(589,278)
(997,239)

-
-

-
-
-

(1,541,188)
-

Total transactions with shareholders 
recognised directly in equity

 
(38,523) (161,172) 416,203 (1,757,696) (1,541,188)

At 31 December 2017 4,532,906 232,332 2,426,559 846,141 8,037,938

1. General information
Emirates Integrated Telecommunications 
Company PJSC (‘the Company’) is a public 
joint stock company with limited liability. The 
Company was incorporated according to 
Ministerial Resolution No. 479 of 2005 issued 
on 28 December 2005. The Company is 
registered in the commercial register under  
No. 77967. The principal address of the Company 
is P.O Box 502666 Dubai, United Arab Emirates 
(UAE). These consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2017 include 
the financial statements of the Company 
and its subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’).

The Company’s principal objective is to provide 
fixed, mobile, wholesale, broadcasting and 
associated telecommunication services in  
the UAE. 

In order to comply with the new provisions 
of the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 
(‘Companies Law’), the Company shareholders 
approved the amendments to its Articles 
of Association through a resolution at the 
General Meeting held on 20 June 2017. 
These amendments have been approved 
and notarized as of 27 December 2017.

The Company has either directly or indirectly the following subsidiaries:

Subsidiaries Principal activities
Shareholding Country of 

incorporation
2017 2016

EITC Investment 
Holdings Limited

Holding investments in new 
business i.e content, media, 
data and value added services 
for telecommunications

100% 100% UAE

Telco Operations 
FZ-LLC

Telecommunication and 
network 100% 100% UAE

Smart Dubai Platform 
Project Company LLC

Software development, 
IT infrastructure, public 
networking and computer 
systems housing services

100% 100% UAE

The notes on pages 49 to 94 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2. Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the 
Group have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and interpretations issued by the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable 
to companies reporting under IFRS. The 
consolidated financial statements comply 
with IFRS as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). These 
consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention 
except for an available-for-sale financial 
asset and derivative financial instruments 
that have been measured at fair value. 

The preparation of consolidated financial 
statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise 
its judgement in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the consolidated 
financial statements are disclosed in Note 2.3.

2.1 New standards, amendments 
and interpretations
(a) Amendment to standards and 

interpretations issued and effective during 
the financial year beginning 1 January 
2017 but having no material impact to 
the Group’s financial statements 

• IAS 7, ‘Statement of cash flows’ on 
the disclosure initiative (effective 
from 1 January 2017). 

There is no material impact of the above 
amendments on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group. 

(b) New standards and amendments 
issued but not effective until financial 
years beginning after 1 January 2017 
and not early adopted by the Group

• IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with 
customers’ (effective from 1 January 2018); 

• IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments: 
Classification and Measurement’ 
(effective from 1 January 2018); and

• IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ (effective 
from 1 January 2019).

IFRS 15 was issued which established a 
single comprehensive model for entities 
to use in accounting for revenue arising 
from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will 
supersede the current revenue recognition 
guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 
11 Construction Contracts and the related 
interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity 
should recognize revenue to depict the transfer 
of promised goods or services to customers 
in an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. 

The standard introduces a 5-step 
approach to revenue recognition:
• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) 

with a customer;
• Step 2: Identify the performance 

obligations in the contract;
• Step 3: Determine the transaction price;
• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the 

performance obligations in the contract; and 
• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the 

entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Management has assessed the potential 
impact of this new standard for the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements 
which is expected to be as follows:
• Accounting for bundled products – IFRS 

15 requires that the total consideration 
received must be allocated to the equipment 
and services based on relative stand-alone 
selling prices rather than based on the 
residual value method and the revenue 
recognised when the control of the asset 
is transferred to the customer in the case 
of equipment and over the period of the 
contracts as the services are delivered. 

The Group has assessed the effect of this 
change only for contracts that are not 
completed contracts as at the date of initial 
application i.e 1 January 2018 as allowed  
under the transition options. At the date  
of initial application, the effect of this change  
is currently estimated to be between  
AED 20 million to AED 50 million. As a 
result the retained earnings is estimated 
to be increased by the same amounts;
• Incremental contract costs incurred to 

obtain and fulfil a contract to provide goods 
or services to the customer are required 
to be capitalised under IFRS 15, if those 
costs are expected to be recovered. These 
costs are to be amortised and tested for 
impairment regularly. Currently such costs 
are being expensed as incurred. The Group 
has assessed the effect of this change 
as at the date of initial application. At the 
date of initial application, the effect of this 
change is currently estimated to be between 
AED 150 million to AED 200 million. As a 
result the retained earnings is estimated 
to be increased by the same amounts;

• Significant financing component: Some 
contracts with customers contain payments 
terms which do not match with the timing 
of delivery of services or products to the 
customer (e.g., under some contracts, 
consideration is paid in monthly instalments 
after the products or services are provided 
to the customers). Such provisions that 
allow customer to pay in arrears may 
give rise to financing component under 
IFRS 15, and will be accounted as interest 
income after adjusting the transaction 
price. The Group have some products and 
services on instalment basis. However 
based on the current product portfolio, 
there is no effect for this change; 

• Variable consideration: Some contracts 
with customers provide discounts or 
volume rebates or service credits. Such 
provisions in the contract give rise to 
variable consideration under IFRS 15, and 
will be required to be estimated at contract 
inception. The Group has assessed the 
effect of this change as at the date of initial 
application. The effect of this change is 
expected to be insignificant in relation to 
equity of the Group as at reporting date; and

• Presentation of contract assets and contract 
liabilities in the statement of financial position: 
IFRS 15 requires separate presentation 
of contract assets and contract liabilities 
in the statement of financial position. 

IFRS 15 is mandatory for financial years 
commencing on or after 1 January 2018. 
The Group intends to adopt the standard 
respectively using second allowed method 
which means that the cumulative impact of 
the adoption will be recognised in retained 
earnings as of 1 January 2018 and that 
comparatives will not be restated.
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2. Basis of preparation (continued)
IFRS 9 addresses the classification, 
measurement and derecognition of financial 
assets and financial liabilities, introduces 
new rules for hedge accounting and a new 
impairment model for financial assets. IFRS 
9 contains three principal classification 
categories for financial assets: measured 
at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL). The standard 
eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories 
of held-to-maturity, loans and receivables 
and available-for-sale. The requirements for 
the derecognition of financial assets and 
liabilities are carried forward from IAS 39. 

The Group has reviewed its financial assets 
and liabilities and is expecting the following 
changes upon adoption on 1 January 2018:
• The Group’s investment in unlisted shares, 

that is currently classified as available-for-
sale financial asset will satisfy the conditions 
for classification as at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
and hence there will be no change to the 
accounting for this asset. Accordingly, the 
Group does not expect the new guidance to 
affect the classification and measurement 
of this financial asset. However, gains or 
losses realised on the sale of this asset will 
no longer be transferred to profit or loss on 
sale, but instead reclassified below the line 
from the FVOCI reserve to retained earnings;

• The new hedge accounting rules will align the 
accounting for hedging instruments more 
closely with the Group’s risk management 
practices. As a general rule, more hedge 
relationships might be eligible for hedge 
accounting, as the standard introduces 
a more principles-based approach. The 

Group has confirmed that its current hedge 
relationships will continue to qualify as 
fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI) after the adoption of 
IFRS 9 and hence there will be no change 
to the accounting for this asset;

• All other assets that are classified as loans 
and receivables will be classified as assets 
measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9;

• There will be no impact on the Group’s 
accounting for financial liabilities, as the new 
requirements only affect the accounting 
for financial liabilities that are designated 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
and the Group does not have any such 
liabilities. After adoption of IFRS 9 these 
financial liabilities will be classified as 
liabilities measured at amortised cost;

• The new impairment model requires the 
recognition of impairment provisions 
based on expected credit losses (ECL) 
rather than only incurred credit losses as 
is the case under IAS 39. It will apply to 
financial assets classified at amortised cost. 
Based on the assessments undertaken to 
date, the Group does not expect  material 
change in the current levels of impairment 
allowances carried on such assets; and

• The new standard also introduces expanded 
disclosure requirements and changes 
in presentation. These are expected to 
change the nature and extent of the Group’s 
disclosures about its financial instruments 
particularly in the financial year 2018 when 
the new standard comes into effect.

IFRS 16 - Leases was issued in January 
2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 
Determining whether an arrangement contains 
a lease, SIC-15 Operating leases-incentives and 
SIC-27 Evaluating the substance of transactions 

involving the legal form of a Lease. IFRS 16 
sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure 
of leases and requires lessees to account for 
all leases under a single on-balance sheet 
model similar to the accounting for finance 
leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two 
recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of 
’low-value’ assets and short-term leases (i.e., 
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). 
At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee 
will recognise a liability to make lease payments 
(i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing 
the right to use the underlying asset during the 
lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). Lessees 
will be required to separately recognise the 
interest expense on the lease liability and the 
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.

Lessees will be also required to remeasure 
the lease liability upon the occurrence of 
certain events (e.g., a change in the lease 
term, a change in future lease payments 
resulting from a change in a discount rate 
used to determine those payments). The 
lessee will generally recognise the amount 
of the remeasurement of the lease liability 
as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially 
unchanged from today’s accounting under IAS 
17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases 
using the same classification principle as in 
IAS 17 and distinguish between two types 
of leases: operating and finance leases.

IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to 
make more extensive disclosures than under 
IAS 17. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 

The Group is assessing the impact of the 
accounting changes that will arise as a result  
of IFRS 16.

There are no other applicable new standards and 
amendments to published standards or IFRIC 
interpretations that have been issued that would 
be expected to have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

2.2 Earnings per share
The Group presents basic earnings per share 
(EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS 
is calculated by dividing the profit attributable 
to the ordinary shareholders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the period, excluding 
treasury shares. Diluted EPS is calculated 
by adjusting the weighted average number 
of equity shares outstanding to assume 
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. The Group does not have any dilutive 
potential ordinary shares.

2.3 Critical accounting estimates 
and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal 
the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are addressed below:
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1) Provision for impairment of 
trade and other receivables
The impairment charge reflects estimates of 
losses arising from the failure or inability of 
the parties concerned to make the required 
payments. The charge is based on the 
aging of counter party balances (including 
accrued revenue), historic experience and 
the information available on the parties’ 
financial position. Changes to the estimated 
impairment provision may be required 
if the financial condition of the parties 
was to improve or deteriorate or as the 
Group launches new instalment based 
products carrying increased credit risk.

2) Impairment of goodwill
The Group tests goodwill for impairment 
on an annual basis, in accordance with the 
accounting policy. The recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating units has been determined 
based on value-in-use calculations. The cash 
flows are derived from the budget for the next 
five years and do not include restructuring 
activities that the Group is not yet committed 
to or significant future investments that will 
enhance the asset base of the cash generating 
units being tested, but do include the Group’s 
expectations of future capital expenditure 
necessary to maintain the Group’s network 
existing operations. These calculations are 
performed internally by the Group and require 
the use of estimates and assumptions. The 
input factors most sensitive to change are 
management estimates of future cash flows 
based on budgets, growth rates and discount 
rate. Further detail on these assumptions 
has been disclosed in Note 7. The Group has 
performed a sensitivity analysis by varying 
these input factors by a reasonably possible 
margin and assessing whether the changes 
in input factors result in any of the goodwill 

allocated to appropriate cash generating units 
being impaired. No impairment is recognised on 
the goodwill in the current and the prior year.

3) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment represent a 
significant proportion of the Group’s asset 
base. Therefore, the judgements made in 
determining their estimated useful lives and 
residual values are critical to the Group’s 
financial position and performance. Useful 
lives and residual values are reviewed on an 
annual basis with the effects of any changes in 
estimates accounted for on a prospective basis. 

In determining residual values, the Group 
uses historical sales and management’s 
best estimate based on market prices of 
similar items.  Useful lives of property, plant 
and equipment are based on management 
estimates and take into account historical 
experience with similar assets, the expected 
usage of the asset, physical wear and tear, 
technical or commercial obsolescence and 
legal restrictions on the use of the assets. 
The useful lives of the property, plant and 
equipment are provided in Note 3.2.

4) Asset retirement obligations
The Group exercises judgement in determining 
the expected cash outflows related to its 
asset retirement obligations. Judgement is 
necessary in determining the timing of outflow 
as well as quantifying the possible range of 
the financial settlements that may occur.

The present value of the Group’s provision 
is based on management’s best estimate of 
the future cash outflows required to settle 
the obligations, discounted using appropriate 
discount rate. Additional information on 
this provision is disclosed in Note 18.

5) Impairment of available-for-sale
financial asset
The Group assesses at the end of each 
reporting period whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired.

For equity investments, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of security 
below its cost is an evidence that the assets 
are impaired. If any such evidence exists the 
cumulative loss measured at the difference 
between the acquisition cost and the current 
fair value, less any impairment loss that 
financial asset previously recognised in 
profit or loss - is removed from equity and 
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment 
losses recognised in the consolidated 
statement of income on equity instruments 
are not reversed through consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

6) Federal royalty
The computation of Federal Royalty in 
accordance with the Cabinet of Ministers 
of UAE decision No. 320/15/23 of 2012 and 
various guidelines issued by the UAE Ministry 
of Finance (‘the MoF’) and subsequent 
clarification letters require use of certain 
judgements, interpretations and assumptions. 
These mainly relate to the segregation of 
items between regulated and other activities 
and items which the Group judges as not 
subject to Federal royalty or which may be 
set off against revenue which are subject 
to Federal royalty, and allocation of costs 
between regulated and non-regulated results.

7) Residual value method
Postpaid products with multiple deliverables 
that have value to customers on a standalone 
basis are defined as multiple element 
arrangements. Postpaid products typically 
include the sale of a handset, subscriber 
identification module (SIM) card and a service 
package. The principles in IAS 18 require 
that revenue in respect of each separable 
element of a transaction is measured at its 
fair value. Management believe that the price 
which is regularly charged for a standalone 
element is the best evidence of its fair value.

In case of postpaid customers’ arrangements, 
the total contract value is lower than the 
total fair value of the standalone elements. 
Therefore, management has decided to apply 
the residual value method to allocate the 
revenue over various elements. In applying 
the residual value method, consideration 
is allocated to each of the undelivered 
elements in the transaction, and any 
consideration remaining (the residual value) 
is allocated to the delivered elements. 

The main alternative method for recognising 
revenue on components of such products is the 
relative fair value method, which will be adopted 
when the Group adopts IFRS 15 (Note 2.1).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

3. Summary of significant 
accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

3.1 Consolidation 
(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured 
entities) over which the Group has control. 
The Group controls an entity when the Group 
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power to direct the activities of 
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred 
to the Group. They are deconsolidated 
from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method 
to account for business combinations. The 
consideration transferred for the acquisition 
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the 
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred 
to the former owners of the acquiree and 
the equity interests issued by the Group. 

The consideration transferred includes the 
fair value of any asset or liability resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their 
fair values at the acquisition date. The Group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, 
either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the recognised 
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in 
stages, the acquisition date carrying value 
of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair 
value at the acquisition date; any gains or 
losses arising from such re-measurement 
are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred 
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the 
fair value of the contingent consideration that is 
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised 
in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss 
or as a change to other comprehensive income. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as 
equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Intercompany transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains on transactions between 
Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment 
of the transferred asset. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

(b) Changes in ownership interests in 
subsidiaries without change of control 
Transactions with non-controlling interests 
that do not result in loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions – 
that is, as transactions with the owners in 
their capacity as owners. The difference 
between fair value of any consideration 
paid and the relevant share acquired of 
the carrying value of net assets of the 
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or 
losses on disposals to non-controlling 
interests are also recorded in equity.

(c) Associates 
Associates are all entities over which the 
Group has significant influence but not control, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of 
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 
Investments in associates are accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting. Under 
the equity method, the investment is initially 
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount 
is increased or decreased to recognise the 
investor’s share of the profit or loss of the 
investee after the date of acquisition. The 
Group’s investment in associate includes 
goodwill identified on acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate 
is reduced but significant influence is 
retained, only a proportionate share of the 
amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified 
to profit or loss where appropriate.

If the ownership in an associate is increased 
in a way that the Group acquires power to 
govern the financial and operating policies 
of the acquiree, the acquiree is consolidated 
as a subsidiary as a step acquisition as 
per IFRS 3. After taking into account any 
impairment, the investment in the associate 
is derecognised and any gain or loss on 
derecognition of the investment is taken 
to the consolidated income statement. 
However, if the ownership is increased and 
the Group maintains significant influence, the 
Group increases the investment amount.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or 
loss is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement, and its share of post-acquisition 
movements in other comprehensive income is 
recognised in other comprehensive income with 
a corresponding adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the investment. When the Group’s 

share of losses in an associate equals or 
exceeds its interest in the associate, including 
any other unsecured receivables, the Group 
does not recognise further losses, unless it 
has incurred legal or constructive obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting 
date whether there is any objective evidence 
that the investment in the associate is 
impaired. If this is the case, the Group 
calculates the amount of impairment as the 
difference between the recoverable amount 
of the associate and its carrying value and 
recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of 
profit/(loss)’ of associate in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from transactions 
between the Group and its associate are 
recognised in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements only to the extent 
of unrelated investor’s interests in the 
associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence 
of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
The accounting policies of the associates are 
same as the Group’s accounting policies.
 
3.2 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the assets. Subsequent 
costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of any component accounted for as a 
separate asset is derecognised when replaced.
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Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken 
annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate a potential 
impairment. The carrying value of the Cash 
Generating Units (CGUs) containing the 
goodwill is compared to the recoverable 
amount, which is the higher of value in use 
and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any 
impairment is recognised immediately as an 
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Licenses and other rights of use
Separately acquired licenses and rights of use 
are shown at historical cost. Licenses and rights 
of use acquired in a business combination are 
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Licenses and rights of use have a finite useful 
life and are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated 
using the straight-line method to allocate the 
cost of licenses and rights of use over their 
estimated useful lives as shown below:

Years

Telecommunications license fee 20

Rights of use 10

Acquired computer software licenses are 
capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and bring to use the specific software. 
These costs are amortised over their estimated 
useful lives of five years. Costs associated with 
maintaining computer software programmes 
are recognised as an expense as incurred.

3.4 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the 
risks and rewards of ownership are retained 
by the lessor are classified as operating 

leases. Payments made under operating 
leases (net of any incentives received from 
the lessor) are charged to the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Leases of property, plant and equipment 
where the Group has substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised 
at the leases’ commencement at the lower of 
the fair value of the leased property and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the 
liability and finance charges. The corresponding 
rental obligations, net of finance charges, 
are included in other long term payables. 
The interest element of the finance cost 
is charged to consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income over the lease period 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period. The property, plant 
and equipment acquired under finance leases 
are depreciated over the shorter of the 
useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of 
the risks and rewards of ownership are 
not transferred to the Group as lessee are 
classified as operating leases (Note 28). 
Payments made under operating leases (net 
of any incentives received from the lessor) 
are charged to consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease.

3. Summary of significant 
accounting policies (continued)
All other repairs and maintenance expenses 
are charged to the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income during the 
financial year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate their cost or revalued 
amounts to their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Years

Buildings 25

Plant and equipment:

Network civil works/buildings 10-25

Infrastructure 3-25

IT hardware 3-10

Mobile network 8-10

Fixed network 2-10

Broadcasting 5-7

Furniture and fixtures 3-5

Motor vehicles 4

The assets’ residual values and useful lives 
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at the end of each reporting date. An 
asset’s carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount (Note 3.12.2). 

Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing the proceeds with 
the carrying amount and are recognised 
within ‘other income’ in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Capital work in progress includes assets 
which are under construction or inspection 
pending certification for their intended use 
and are stated at cost net of any accumulated 
impairment losses. When available for use, 
capital work in progress is transferred 
to property, plant and equipment and 
depreciated in accordance with the Group’s 
policies.  No depreciation is charged on 
such assets until available for use.

3.3 Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of 
subsidiaries or businesses and represents 
the excess of the consideration transferred, 
the amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date 
fair value of any previous equity interest 
in the acquiree over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired. 

If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously 
held interest measured at fair value is less 
than the fair value of the net assets of the 
subsidiary acquiree, in the case of a bargain 
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash inflows which are largely independent of 
the cash inflows from other assets or groups 
of assets (cash-generating units). Each unit 
or group of units to which the goodwill is 
allocated represents the lowest level within 
the Group at which the goodwill is monitored 
for internal management purposes. Goodwill 
is monitored at the operating segment level.
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at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, less any impairment losses. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are 
recognised initially at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition available-
for-sale financial assets are measured at 
fair value with fair value movements being 
recognised in other comprehensive income. 
When securities classified as available-for-
sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated 
fair value adjustments recognised in equity 
are included in consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income as ‘Gains and 
losses from investment securities’.

3.8.2 Non-derivative financial liabilities
The Group has the following non-derivative 
financial liabilities: ‘borrowings’, ‘due to related 
parties’ and ‘trade and other payables’ in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

Such financial liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition these financial liabilities 
are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.

The Group derecognises a financial 
liability when its contractual obligations 
are discharged or cancelled or expire.

3.8.3 Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value 
on the date a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently re-measured to their 
fair value at the end of each reporting period. 
The accounting for subsequent changes in 
fair value depends on whether the derivative 
is designated as a hedging instrument, and if 

so, the nature of the item being hedged. The 
Group designates certain derivatives as hedges 
of a particular risk associated with the cash 
flows of recognised assets and liabilities.

The Group documents at the inception of the 
hedging transaction the relationship between 
hedging instruments and hedged items, as well 
as its risk management objective and strategy 
for undertaking various hedge transactions. 
The Group also documents its assessment, 
both at hedge inception and on an ongoing 
basis, of whether the derivatives that are used 
in hedging transactions have been and will 
continue to be highly effective in offsetting 
changes in cash flows of hedged items.

The fair value of the derivative financial 
instruments used for hedging purposes 
are disclosed in Note 10. Movement in the 
hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity 
is shown in Note 21. The full fair value of a 
hedging derivative is classified as a non-
current asset or liability when the remaining 
maturity of the hedged item is more than 
12 months; it is classified as a current asset 
or liability when the remaining maturity of 
the hedged item is less than 12 months. 

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair 
value of derivatives that are designated and 
qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised 
in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in hedge reserve in equity. The 
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss 
within other income or other expense.

Amounts accumulated in equity are 
reclassified to profit or loss in the periods 
when the hedged item affects profit or loss. 

3. Summary of significant 
accounting policies (continued)
3.5 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
determined using the weighted average 
method. It excludes borrowing costs. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, 
less applicable variable selling expenses.

3.6 Trade and other receivables 
Trade and other receivables are amounts due 
from customers for goods sold or services 
performed in the ordinary course of business.  
If the contractual collection date is in one year 
or less, they are classified as current assets.  
If not, they are presented as non-current 
assets. Trade receivables are recognised initially 
at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using effective interest rate 
method, less provision for impairment.

3.7 Cash and bank balances 
Cash and bank balances comprise cash 
balances and call deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less. Bank 
overdrafts, if any that are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management are included as a component of 
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of 
the consolidated statement of cash flows.

3.8 Financial instruments
3.8.1 Non-derivative financial assets
Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets as loans 
and receivables and available-for-sale assets. 
The classification depends on the purpose 
for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification 
of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They are included in current assets, 
except for maturities greater than 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period. These 
are classified as non-current assets. The 
Group’s loans and receivables comprise 
‘trade and other receivables’, ‘due from 
related parties’ ‘short term investments’ 
and ‘cash and bank balances’ in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are designated as available-
for-sale or are not classified in any of the 
other categories of financial assets. They are 
included in non-current financial assets unless 
the investment matures or management 
intends to dispose of it within 12 months 
of the end of the reporting period. 

Recognition and measurement
The Group recognises financial assets when it 
becomes a party to the contractual provision 
of the instruments. The Group derecognises 
a financial asset when the contractual rights 
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual 
cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction 
in which substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred. Any interest in transferred financial 
assets that is created or retained by the Group 
is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

Loans and receivables are recognised initially 
at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition loans and receivables are measured 
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item of property, plant and equipment 
and restoring the site on which the item 
was located to its original condition. 
The Group provides for the anticipated 
costs associated with the restoration of 
leasehold property to its original condition 
at inception of the lease, including removal 
of items included in plant and equipment.

3.11 Employee benefits
Payments made to state-managed pension 
schemes are dealt with as payments to defined 
contribution schemes where the Group’s 
obligations under the schemes are equivalent to 
those arising in a defined contribution scheme. 
Accordingly, the accrued cost of contribution 
is charged to the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income as incurred. 

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 
for non-UAE nationals is made in accordance 
with UAE Labour Law. The provision is 
calculated in accordance with the Projected Unit 
Cost method as per IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ 
taking into consideration the UAE Labour Laws. 

The present value of the defined benefit 
obligations is calculated using assumptions 
on the average annual rate of increase in 
salaries, average period of employment 
of non-UAE nationals and an appropriate 
discount rate. The assumptions used are 
calculated on a consistent basis for each period 
and reflect management’s best estimate.

The discount rates are set in line with the 
best available estimate of market yields 
currently available at the reporting date 
with reference to high quality corporate 
bonds or other basis, if applicable.

Changes in the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation resulting from 
amendments or curtailments are recognised 

immediately in consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income as past service costs.

Provision is also made for the estimated 
liability for employees’ unused entitlements to 
annual leave and flights as a result of services 
rendered by eligible employees up to the 
reporting date.  The provision relating to annual 
leave and air passage is disclosed as a current 
liability, while that relating to end of service 
benefits is disclosed as a non-current liability.

The Group also provides mobile allowances 
and discounted mobile telephone charges 
to employees for official and personal 
purposes. This benefit is not separately 
accounted for as staff costs.

3.12 Impairment
3.12.1 Financial assets 
The Group assesses at the end of each 
reporting period whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired 
and impairment losses are incurred only if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as 
a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss 
event’) and that loss event (or events) has an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of the financial asset or group of financial 
assets that can be reliably estimated. 

A provision for impairment against doubtful 
trade receivables is created in the period in 
which management becomes aware of the 
uncertainty. The calculation for the provision 
for impairment takes into consideration 
factors like service type, customer 
segment, aging of customer’s accounts, 
customer collection trends, payment made 
by the customers, disputes and specific 
or individually identified receivables.

3. Summary of significant 
accounting policies (continued)
The gain or loss relating to the effective 
portion of interest rate swaps hedging 
variable rate borrowings is recognised 
in profit or loss within ‘finance costs’.

3.8.4 Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and 
the net amount reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position if, and only 
if, there is a currently enforceable legal 
right to offset the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

3.8.5 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of ordinary shares and share options 
are recognised as a deduction from equity.

3.8.6 Treasury shares 
Own equity instruments of the Company 
which are acquired by the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries (treasury shares) are 
deducted from other reserves and accounted 
for at weighted average cost. Consideration 
paid or received on the purchase, sale, 
issue or cancellation of the Company’s own 
equity instruments is recognised directly in 
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income on the purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of own equity instruments.

3.8.7 Dividend on ordinary shares
Dividends payable on ordinary shares are 
recognised as a liability in the period in 
which they are approved by the Group’s 
shareholders, but are included in a separate 
component of reserves once proposed 
by the Company’s Board of Directors.

3.9 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for 
goods or services that have been acquired 
in the ordinary course of business from 
suppliers. Trade payables are classified as 
current liabilities if payment is due within 
one year or less (or in the normal operating 
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they 
are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade 
payables are recognised initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method.

3.10 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group 
has a legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation, and the amount can 
be reliably estimated. Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, 
the likelihood that an outflow will be required 
in settlement is determined by considering the 
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is 
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow 
with respect to any one item included in the 
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value 
of the expenditures expected to be required 
to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting period. The discount rate used to 
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation. The increase in 
provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as finance costs in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Asset retirement obligations
This provision relates to the estimate of 
the cost of dismantling and removing an 
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Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation at year-end exchange rates 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income within finance income or costs.

3.14 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the invoiced or 
accrued amounts from the sale of goods 
and services (telecommunication and 
others) in the ordinary course of the 
Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of 
returns, discounts and rebates allowed. 

Revenue from telecommunication services 
comprise amounts charged to customers 
in respect of monthly access charges, 
airtime usage, messaging, the provision of 
other mobile telecommunications services, 
including data services and information 
provision and fees for connecting fixed line 
and mobile users to the Group’s network. 

Revenue from the sale of goods and the 
rendering of services is recognised when 
it is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow 
to the Group and the amount of revenue, 
and associated costs incurred or to be 
incurred, can be measured reliably. The 
amount of revenue is not considered to be 
reliably measurable until all contingencies 
relating to the sale have been resolved.
 
Postpaid products with multiple deliverables 
that have value to a customer on standalone 
basis are defined as multiple element 
arrangements. Postpaid products typically 
include the sale of a handset, subscriber 
identification module (SIM) card and a 

service package which mainly include voice, 
data and SMS/MMS. These arrangements 
(mainly the subsidy plans) are divided into 
separate performance obligations, and 
revenue is mainly recognised through 
application of the residual value method. 

Revenue from sale of standalone handsets 
under separate contract is recognised 
when the handset is delivered to the end 
customer and the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership has been transferred. 

In applying the residual value method, 
consideration is allocated to each of the 
undelivered elements in the transaction, and 
any consideration remaining (the residual 
value) is allocated to the delivered elements.

The Group operates loyalty programmes where 
customers accumulate points for purchases 
made, which entitle them to discounts on future 
purchases. The reward points are recognised 
as a separately identifiable component of the 
initial sale transaction by allocating the fair 
value of the consideration received between 
the reward points and the other components 
of the sale such that the reward points are 
initially recognised as deferred revenue at their 
fair value. Revenue from the reward points is 
recognised when the points are redeemed. 
Breakage (forfeiture of points) is recognised 
when redemption becomes remote.

Access charges, airtime and other services 
used by postpaid customers are invoiced and 
recorded as part of a periodic billing cycle and 
recognised as revenue over the related access 
period, with unbilled revenue resulting from 
services already provided from the billing 
cycle date to the end of each period accrued. 

3. Summary of significant 
accounting policies (continued)
Assets carried at amortised cost
For loans and receivables, the amount of the 
loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced and the amount of 
the loss is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. If a loan 
or held-to-maturity investment has a variable 
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring 
any impairment loss is the current effective 
interest rate determined under the contract. As 
a practical expedient, the Group may measure 
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s 
fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of 
the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised (such as an improvement in 
the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal 
of the previously recognised impairment 
loss is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Available-for-sale financial asset 
For equity investments, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of security 
below its cost is an evidence that the assets 
are impaired. In addition, the Group considers 
impairment to be appropriate when there 
is evidence of deterioration in the financial 
health of the investee, industry and sector 
performance or changes in technology. 

3.12.2 Non-financial assets
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful 
life or intangible assets (including capital work 
in progress) not ready to use are not subject 
to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment. Assets that are subject to 
amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are largely independent 
cash inflows (CGUs’). Prior impairments 
of non-financial assets (other than 
goodwill) are reviewed for possible 
reversal at each reporting date.

3.13 Foreign currency translation
(a)  Functional and presentation currency
 Items included in the consolidated 

financial statements are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Group operates 
(‘the functional currency’). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in AED 
which is the Company’s and its subsidiaries 
functional and presentation currency. The 
figures have been rounded to the nearest 
thousand except when otherwise stated.

(b)  Transactions and balances 
 Foreign currency transactions are 

translated into the functional currency 
using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions.
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Finance costs is mainly interest payable on 
borrowing facilities obtained from suppliers 
and financial institutions at normal commercial 
rates and is recognised as an expense in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income in the period in which it is incurred. 

3.17 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production 
of qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time 
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
added to the cost of those assets, until such 
time as the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale. Investment income 
earned on the temporary investment of 
specific borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All 
other borrowing costs are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income in the period in which they are incurred.

3.18 Cash dividend distribution to 
equity holders of the parent
The Group recognises a liability to make 
cash distributions to equity holders when 
the distribution is authorised and the 
distribution is no longer at the discretion 
of the Company. As per the UAE Federal 
Law No. 2 of 2015 (‘Companies Law’), a 
distribution is authorised when it is approved 
by the shareholders. A corresponding 
amount is recognised directly in equity. 

3.19 Segmental information
Information regarding the Group’s operating 
segments is reported in accordance with IFRS 8 
Operating Segments. IFRS 8 requires operating 
segments to be identified on the basis of 
internal reports that are regularly reviewed 
by the Group’s chief operating decision 
maker and used to allocate resources to the 
segments and to assess their performance.

3.20 Government grants
Government grants relating to non-monetary 
assets are recognised at nominal value. 
Grants that compensate the Group for 
expenses are recognised in the profit or loss 
on a systematic basis in the same period in 
which the expenses are recognised. Grants 
that compensate the Group for the cost of 
an asset are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income on a 
systematic basis over the expected useful 
life of the related asset upon capitalisation.

4. Determination of fair values
A number of the Group’s accounting policies 
and disclosures require the determination of 
fair value, for both financial and non-financial 
assets and liabilities. Fair values have been 
determined for measurement and/or disclosure 
purposes, based on the following methods.

4.1 Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables 
is estimated as the present value of future 
cash flows, discounted at the market 
rate of interest at the reporting date.

4.2 Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure 
purposes, is calculated based on the 
present value of future principal and interest 
cash flows, discounted at the market 
rate of interest at the reporting date.

4.3 Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are initially 
measured at fair value at trade date, and are 
subsequently remeasured at fair value. All 
derivatives are carried at their fair values as 
assets where the fair values are positive and 
as liabilities where the fair values are negative. 

3. Summary of significant 
accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from the sale of prepaid credit is 
recognised on the actual utilisation of the 
prepaid credit and is deferred as deferred 
revenue until such time as the customer uses 
the credit, expires or becomes unutilised. 
Un-used prepaid vouchers are recognised 
as revenue on expiry of 24 months. 

Revenue from sale of SIM cards is recognised 
on the date of sale to the customer. 

Contract revenue is recognised under the 
percentage of completion method. Profit on 
contracts is recognised only when the outcome 
of the contracts can be reliably estimated. 

Provision is made for foreseeable losses 
estimated to complete contracts. Contract 
revenue mainly comprises revenue from 
managed services provided by the Group. 

Revenue from interconnection of voice and data 
traffic with other telecommunications operators 
is recognised at the time the services are 
performed based on the actual recorded traffic.

Incentives (promotions) are provided to 
customers in various forms and are usually 
offered on signing a new contract, sale of SIM 
card, sale of recharge or as part of a regular 
promotional offering. Incentives provided on 
the signing of contracts or sale of SIM cards 
to customers are recognised as an upfront 
discount against revenue. Incentives provided 
on the sale of recharge vouchers to prepaid 
customers are recognised as a deduction 
against revenue over the estimated period 
of usage of the respective recharge while 
incentives provided to postpaid customers 
are recorded over their billing period.
Incentives are also provided upon sale of 
SIM cards and vouchers to intermediaries. 

Where amounts paid upfront to intermediaries 
represent an amount contributed to enable the 
intermediaries to offer discounts to customers, 
they are recognised as a discount from revenue. 

Rental income arising from mobile site sharing 
agreements is recognised as revenue over the 
period for which access rights are provided.

When the Group sells goods or services 
as a principal, revenue from customers 
and payments to suppliers are reported 
on a gross basis in revenue and operating 
costs. If the Group sells goods or services 
as an agent, revenue and payments to 
suppliers are recorded in revenue on a net 
basis, representing the margin earned. 

Whether the Group is considered to be 
the principal or an agent in the transaction 
depends on analysis by management of 
both the legal form and substance of the 
agreement between the Group and its 
business partners; such judgements impact 
the amount of reported revenue and operating 
expenses but do not impact reported 
profits, assets, liabilities or cash flows. 

3.15 Commission to intermediaries
Intermediaries are paid commissions by 
the Group mainly in return for acquiring 
new customers and selling recharge 
credits. Such commissions are recognised 
as an expense in the period when the 
respective services are provided.

3.16 Recognition of finance income and costs
Finance income comprises interest 
income on short term investments and 
other bank deposits. Interest income is 
recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, 
using the effective interest rate method.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

4. Determination of fair values (continued)
Derivative fair values are determined from 
quoted prices in active markets where 
available. Where there is no active market for 
an instrument, fair value is derived from prices 
for the derivative’s components from mark 
to market values provided by the bankers.

The method of recognising fair value gains and 
losses depends on whether derivatives are 
held for trading or are designated as hedging 
instruments, and if the latter, the nature of 
the risks being hedged. The Group purchases 
derivatives only for hedging purposes. 

5. Financial risk management
5.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety 
of financial risks: market risk (including 
currency risk, cash flow and fair value 
interest rate risks and price risk), credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall 
risk management process focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects 
on the Group’s financial performance. 

This note presents information about 
the Group’s exposure to each of the 
above risks, the Group’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring 
and managing risk, and the Group’s 
management of capital. Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout these 
consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directors has overall 
responsibility for the establishment and 
oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework. The Board is responsible 
for developing and monitoring the 
Group’s risk management policies.

The Group’s risk management policies are 
established to identify and analyse the risks 
faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk 

limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 
adherence to limits. Risk management policies 
and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the Group’s 
activities. The Group, through its training and 
management standards and procedures, 
aims to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment in which all employees 
understand their roles and obligations.

The Group’s Audit Committee oversees how 
management monitors compliance with 
the Group’s risk management policies and 
procedures and reviews the adequacy of 
the risk management framework in relation 
to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit 
Committee is assisted in its oversight role 
by Internal Control department. Internal 
Control department undertakes both regular 
and adhoc reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures, the results of which 
are reported to the Audit Committee.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the 
Group if a customer or counterparty to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the 
Group’s receivables from customers.

Trade and other receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced 
mainly by the individual characteristics of 
each customer and the extent to which 
extended credit terms are offered. The 
demographics of the Group’s customer 
base has less of an influence on credit risk. 

The management has established a credit 
policy under which each new customer is 
analysed for creditworthiness before the 
Group’s terms and conditions are offered.  
The Group’s review can include external ratings, 
when available, customer segmentation, 
and in some cases bank references. Credit 
limits are established for each customer in 

accordance with this policy, which represents 
the maximum open amount without 
requiring approval from senior management. 
These limits are reviewed periodically. 

In monitoring customer credit risk, customers 
are classified according to their credit 
characteristics, including whether they 
are an individual or legal entity, projected 
business volumes, new or established 
businesses and existence of previous 
financial relationships with the Group.

The Group may require deposit or collateral 
in respect of granting credit for trade 
and other receivables, subject to results 
of risk assessment and the nature and 
volumes contemplated by the customer.

The Group establishes an allowance for 
impairment that represents its estimate 
of incurred losses in respect of trade and 
other receivables. All individually significant 
assets (such as receivables from broadcast 
customers and distributors etc.) are assessed 

for specific impairment. Receivables related 
to postpaid and broadband customers are 
assessed for impairment based on portfolio 
of similar assets while considering the aging 
of balances and portfolio collection history. 

Information on the aging of trade and 
other receivables is given in Note 29.1.

The carrying amount of financial assets 
recorded in the consolidated financial 
statements, net of any allowances for 
losses, represents the Group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk without taking account 
of the value of any collateral obtained.

Short term investments and cash and
bank balances
Cash is placed with reputable banks and 
the risk of default is considered remote. 
The table below presents the external credit 
ratings as at December 31 of the Group’s 
short term investments and bank balances 
based on Fitch and Moody’s rating scale.

Ratings

Short term 
investments

Cash and bank 
balances

2017 2016 2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000

AA
Aa3

A1
A+
A2

A
A3
A-

AA-
Baa1
Baa2

Others

-
-
-

350,000
-
-

1,475,000
-

1,685,000
1,115,000
400,000

-

150,000
-

275,000
700,000

-
-

400,000
3,750,000

-
875,000

-
-

-
82,774

5,704
-

357
2,258

16,338
102

18,433
234,612

1,248
99,299

-
62,586

548
957

5,179
96,890
25,214
14,953

-
6,779

-
26,392

5,025,000 6,150,000 461,125 239,498
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

5. Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due. 

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity 
is to ensure that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the Group’s business and 
reputation. A major portion of the Group’s 
funds are invested in short term investments 
which are readily available to meet expected 
operational expenses, including servicing of 
financial obligations. The table in Note 29.2 
analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial 
liabilities and derivative financial liabilities, if any, 
into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the reporting date to the 
contractual maturity date. Derivative financial 
liabilities, if any, are included in the analysis if 
their contractual maturities are essential for 
an understanding of the timing of the cash 
flows. The amounts disclosed in the table are 
the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

(c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market 
prices, such as foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices will affect the 
Group’s income or the value of its holdings of 
financial instruments. The objective of market 
risk management is to manage and control 
market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return. The 
Group’s exposure to market risk arises from:
• Foreign exchange risk
• Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

1) Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk on 
sales and purchases that are denominated 
in a currency, primarily the Euro, other than 
the functional currency of the Company and 
its subsidiaries. In respect of the Group’s 
transactions denominated in US Dollars 
(USD), the Group is not exposed to material 
currency risk as the AED is currently pegged 
to the USD at a fixed rate of exchange.  

The Group’s exposure and sensitivity 
analysis in respect to the foreign 
exchange risk is detailed in Note 29.3. 

2) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from 
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable 
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest 
rate risk which is partially offset by short 
term investments held at variable rates. 
Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the 
Group to fair value interest rate risk. During 
2017 and 2016, the Group’s borrowings at 
variable rate were denominated in the USD.

The Group analyses its interest rate exposure 
on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios 
are simulated taking into consideration 
refinancing, renewal of existing positions, 
alternative financing and interest rate 
swaps. Based on these scenarios, the Group 
calculates the impact on profit and loss of 
a defined interest rate shift. The scenarios 
are run only for liabilities that represent 
the major interest-bearing positions.

The sensitivity analysis performed by the 
Group in respect to the interest rate risk 
is detailed in Note 29.4. The sensitivity 
analysis is done on a regular basis to verify 
that the maximum loss potential is within 
the limit given by the management.

Based on the various scenarios, the Group 
manages its cash flow interest rate risk 
by using floating-to-fixed interest rate 
swaps. Such interest rate swaps have the 
economic effect of converting borrowings 
from floating rates to fixed rates. Generally, 
the Group raises long-term borrowings at 
floating rates and swaps them into fixed 
rates that are lower than those available if 
the Group borrowed at fixed rates directly.

5.2 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing 
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern in order 

to provide returns for shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure 
to reduce the cost of capital.

Consistent with others in the industry, the 
Group monitors capital on the basis of the 
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net 
debt divided by total capital. Net debt is 
calculated as total borrowings as shown in the 
consolidated statement of financial position, 
less cash and bank balances and short 
term investments. Total capital is calculated 
as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated 
statement of financial position plus net debt.

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Total borrowings (Note 16)
Less: Cash and bank balances/short term investments (Notes 13 and 14)

3,617,662 
(5,486,125)

4,379,829 
(6,389,498)

Net debt
Total equity

(1,868,463) 
8,037,938

(2,009,669) 
7,852,940

Total capital 6,169,475 5,843,271

Gearing ratio (30%) (34%)
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In AED’000

At 31 December 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Available-for-sale financial asset (Note 9)
Derivative financial instrument (Note 10)

-
-

-
13,594

18,368
-

18,368
13,594

- 13,594 18,368 31,962

At 31 December 2016
Available-for-sale financial asset (Note 9)
Derivative financial instrument (Note 10)

-
-

-
6,280

18,368
-

18,368
6,280

- 6,280 18,368 24,648

5. Financial risk management (continued)
5.3 Fair value estimation
The fair values of the Group’s financial 
assets and liabilities approximated their 
book amounts as reflected in these 
consolidated financial statements.

The table below analyses financial instruments 
carried at fair value, by valuation method. The 
different levels have been defined as follows:

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices 
included within level 1 that are observable for 
asset or   liability, either directly (that is, as 
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability 
that are not based on observable market 
data (that is, unobservable inputs).

The fair value of financial instruments that are 
not traded in an active market is determined 
by using valuation techniques. These 
valuation techniques maximize the use of 
observable market data where it is available 
and rely as little as possible on entity specific 
estimates. Due to the uncertain nature of 
cash flows arising from certain unquoted 
equity investments of the Group, the fair 
value of these investments cannot be reliably 
measured. Consequently, these investments 
are carried at cost, less any impairment 
losses. The fair value of interest rate swaps 
classified as derivative financial instruments 
in the table above is provided by the bank.

Financial instruments comprise financial 
assets and financial liabilities.

Financial assets of the Group include available-
for-sale financial asset, cash and bank balances, 
trade and other receivables, due from related 
parties and short term investments. Financial 
liabilities of the Group include borrowings, 
trade payables and accruals, due to other 
telecommunication operators, customer 
deposits, retention payable, accrued royalty, 
due related parties and other payables. The fair 
values of these financial assets and liabilities 
are not materially different from their carrying 
values unless stated otherwise (Note 29). 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

Buildings
AED 000 

Plant and 
equipment

AED 000 

Furniture 
and 

fixtures
AED 000 

Motor 
vehicles

AED 000

Capital 
work in 

progress
AED 000

Total
AED 000

Cost
At 1 January 2016

Additions
Addition: asset retirement 

obligations
Transfers
Disposals

47,208
4,752

-
-
-

13,859,401
555,514

10,160
824,263
(60,448)

254,756
12,839

-
5,108

(2,131)

1,536
-

-
-

(117)

934,321
907,891

-
(829,371)

-

15,097,222
1,480,996

10,160
-

(62,696)

At 31 December 2016
Additions

Addition: asset retirement 
obligations

Transfers
Disposals

51,960
354

-
(4,745)

-

15,188,890
509,102

7,923
916,440
(25,628)

270,572
25,554

-
6,075

(1,404)

1,419
-

-
-

(35)

1,012,841
912,793

-
(917,770)

(747)

16,525,682
1,447,803

7,923
-

(27,814)

At 31 December 2017 47,569 16,596,727 300,797 1,384 1,007,117 17,953,594

Depreciation/impairment 
At 1 January 2016

Charge for the year 
Disposals/write-off
Impairment charge

21,974
2,233

-
-

6,509,020
1,314,713
(52,349)

30,974

226,680
18,009
(2,110)

-

1,480
22

(117)
-

4,588
-

(1,358)
2,726

6,763,742
1,334,977

(55,934)
33,700

At 31 December 2016
Charge for the year 
Disposals/write-off
Impairment charge 

24,207
2,244

-
-

7,802,358
1,358,600

(23,875)
1,245

242,579
15,581
(1,306)

-

1,385
22

(35)
-

5,956
-

(1,629)
5,396

8,076,485
1,376,447
(26,845)

6,641

At 31 December 2017 26,451 9,138,328 256,854 1,372 9,723 9,432,728

Net book value
At 31 December 2017 21,118 7,458,399 43,943 12 997,394 8,520,866

At 31 December 2016 27,753 7,386,532 27,993 34 1,006,885 8,449,197

6. Property, plant and equipment

The carrying amount of the Group’s buildings include a nominal amount of AED 1 (2016: AED 1) in relation to land granted 
to the Group by the UAE Government.
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7. Intangible assets and goodwill Intangible assets

Goodwill
The Group acquired the business and assets of three wholly owned subsidiaries/divisions of  
Tecom Investments FZ LLC with effect  from 31 December 2005. Goodwill represents the excess  
of purchase consideration paid over the fair value of net assets acquired.

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of Cash Generating Units (‘CGU’) is as follows:

The Software in use represents all applications 
such as ERP and Billing systems which are 
currently in use while the Capital work in 
progress relates to the development of these 
systems. Software is being amortised on a 
straight-line basis over a period of 5 years.

Telecommunication license fees represent 
charge by the Telecommunications Regulatory 
Authority to the Group to grant the license 
to operate as a telecommunications service 
provider in the UAE. The fees are being 
amortised on a straight-line basis over a 
period of 20 years which is the term of the 
license, from the date of granting the license.

The Group tests goodwill for impairment 
annually. The recoverable amount of the 
Cash Generating Units (‘CGU’) is determined 
using the Discounted Cash Flow method 
based on the five year business plan 
approved by the Board of Directors. 

The estimated recoverable amount of the 
broadcasting CGU exceeded the carrying 
amount of its net assets including goodwill, 
by approximately 53% and that of the 
fixed line business exceeded its carrying 
amount by approximately 150%. 

The key assumptions for the value-in-use 
calculations at 31 December 2017 include:

• 5 year revenue growth projections 
for the fixed line business and 
broadcasting operations; 

• a pre-tax discount rate of 9.81% based 
on the historical industry average 
weighted-average cost of capital; 

• maintenance capital expenditure projections 
allowing for replacement of existing 
infrastructure at the end of its useful life; and 

• terminal growth rate of 3% for the fixed 
line and 1% for broadcasting businesses, 
determined based on management’s 
estimate of the long term compound EBITDA 
growth rate, consistent with the assumption 
that a market participant would make.  

The fixed line model calculations are 
particularly sensitive to the revenue growth 
assumptions, including expectations around 
the impact of future competition in the 
Group’s existing network zones. However, 
management considers that it would require 
a significant decline in revenue growth before 
any impairment of the fixed line CGU was 
required. The headroom in respect of the 
broadcasting CGU is lower than prior year, 
significantly above the carrying amount and 
will be monitored closely going forward.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Goodwill
 Intangible assets

549,050
581,282

549,050
624,419

1,130,332 1,173,469

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Broadcasting operations
Fixed line business 

135,830
413,220

135,830
413,220 

549,050 549,050

Software  
in use

AED 000

Capital work 
in progress

AED 000

Telecomm-
unications

license fees
AED 000

 

Rights of use 
AED 000

Total  
AED 000

Cost
At 1 January 2016 1,345,962 137,875 124,500 365,354 1,973,691

Additions 12,675 290,145 - - 302,820
Adjustments* - - - (171,364) (171,364)

Transfers 89,216 (89,216) - - -
Write off (2,461) - - - (2,461)

At 31 December 2016 1,445,392 338,804 124,500 193,990 2,102,686

Additions 59,701 35,309 - - 95,010
Transfers 93,633 (93,633) - - -
Write off (4,434) - - - (4,434)

At 31 December 2017 1,594,292 280,480 124,500 193,990 2,193,262

Amortisation/impairment
At 1 January 2016 1,085,302 - 61,397 175,081 1,321,780

Charge for the year 130,637 - 6,225 8,571 145,433
Adjustments* - - - (49,277) (49,277)

Impairment charge 62,792 - - - 62,792
Write off (2,461) - - - (2,461)

At 31 December 2016 1,276,270 - 67,622 134,375 1,478,267

Charge for the year 127,987 - 6,225 7,300 141,512
Release of impairment (12,280) - - - (12,280)

Impairment charge 8,915 - - - 8,915
Write off (4,434) - - - (4,434)

At 31 December 2017 1,396,458 - 73,847 141,675 1,611,980

Net book value

At 31 December 2017 197,834 280,480 50,653 52,315 581,282

At 31 December 2016 169,122 338,804 56,878 59,615 624,419
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7. Intangible assets and goodwill  (continued)
*During the year 2016, the Group received 
determination No (1) of 2016 dated 13 
November 2016 from Telecommunications 
Regulatory Authority (TRA) regarding charges 
for indoor mobile site sharing with the other 
telecom operator. This determination clarified 
the charges for obtaining right to use Indoor 
Building Solutions (IBS) relating to sites in the 
UAE. The schedule above includes the changes 
applied to reflect the above determination, 
whereby passive indoor mobile site sharing 
charges are now recognised as annual rental 

costs included in network operations and 
maintenance costs. The remaining capitalised 
active site sharing costs are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over 10 years.

Also included in the balance is an amount 
charged by an operator of a fibre-optic cable 
system for the right to use its submarine 
fibre-optic circuits and cable system. The fees 
are amortised on a straight-line basis over a 
period of 15 years from the date of activation 
of the cable system.

*The investments during the year 31 December 2017, represent payment made for acquisition 
of 23.5% shares in Dubai Smart City Accelerator FZCO amounting to AED 1,835 thousand and 
additional funding to Khazna Data Center Limited amounting to AED 16,831 thousand.   

As of 31 December, the fair value of derivative financial instruments was as follows:

The related movement in derivative financial instruments is shown under hedge reserve (Note 21.2).

10. Derivative financial instruments
During the year 2015, the Group entered 
into floating to fixed interest rate swaps with 
corresponding banks to hedge the interest 
rate risk relating to a portion of the floating 
rate interest payable on unsecured bank term 
loans. The terms of the loans include quarterly 
interest payments, at a rate of LIBOR + 0.95% 
on the outstanding principal amount (Note 16). 

The hedge covers the risk in variability of 
LIBOR over the entire term of the loans. The 
hedging instruments match the actual terms 
of the related interest payments on the loans 
in all respects, including LIBOR rate used, reset 
dates and notional amounts outstanding.

During the year 2016, the Group acquired 4.8% shares in Anghami, a Cayman Islands exempted 
company registered in the Cayman Islands (unlisted company). The company is involved in the 
provision of media related content. The Group classified the investment as available-for-sale financial 
asset at the date of acquisition. 

Due to the uncertain nature of cash flows arising from investments by the Group in unlisted 
shares of Anghami, the fair value of these investments cannot be reliably measured. 
Consequently, these investments are carried at cost.

Associate’s income statement for the year ended 31 December:

9. Available-for-sale financial asset

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

8. Investments accounted for using the equity method 
Dubai Smart City Accelerator FZCO 
During the year 2017, the Group acquired 23.5% shares in Dubai Smart City Accelerator FZCO
(‘the Associate’), a Free Zone Company with limited liability established in Dubai Silicon Oasis Free 
Zone, in the Emirate of Dubai. The business of the Associate is to run accelerator programs with the 
purpose of sourcing innovation and technology applicable to the Smart City Industry. The Associate 
has not yet commenced commercial operations and has not produced financial statements. 

Khazna Data Center Limited
The Group has 26% ownership shares in Khazna Data Center Limited (‘the Associate’), a limited 
liability company established in the Masdar City Free Zone, in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi. The 
business of the Associate is providing wholesale data centre services.

Summarised financial information for the Associate is as follows:

Associate’s statement of financial position as of 31 December:

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

At 1 January 113,935 110,867
Investments during the year* 18,666 -

Share of profit for the year 9,485 3,068

At 31 December 142,086 113,935

Non-current assets 686,725 671,964
Current assets 157,183 87,835

Current liabilities (80,905) (74,055)
Non-current liabilities (297,089) (318,197)

Net assets 465,914 367,547

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Revenue 128,207 77,915

Profit for the year 36,481 11,800

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Unlisted shares

Anghami 18,368 18,368

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Interest rate swap contracts – cash flow hedges 13,594    6,280
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The Group’s normal credit terms ranges between 15 and 150 days (2016: 15 and 150 days).
No interest is charged on the trade and other receivable balances.

The movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables, unbilled receivables and due 
from other telecommunications operators is as follows:

Trade and other receivables are considered 
for impairment based on collection trends 
resulting in provisions against current and older 
balances. Ageing analysis of trade and other 
receivables and provision thereon is provided 

in Note 29. The Group had no significant 
concentration of credit risk. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date 
is the fair value of each class of receivables 
mentioned above.

12. Related party balances and transactions
Related parties comprise the shareholders 
of the Company, entities under common 
shareholding, its directors, key management 
personnel and entities over which they exercise 
control, joint control or significant influence. The 
founding shareholders mentioned in the note 
are Emirates Investment Authority, Mubadala 

Development Company and Emirates 
Communications and Technology Company 
LLC. Transactions with related parties are done 
on an arm’s length basis in the ordinary course 
of business and are approved by the Group’s 
management or by the Board of Directors.

Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its 
subsidiaries, which are related parties, have 
been eliminated on consolidation and are not 
disclosed in this note. All transactions with 

related parties referred to below are done on 
an arm’s length basis in the ordinary course of 
business. The following table reflects the gross 
value of transactions with related parties. 

The fee paid to Board of Directors during the year was AED 11,400 thousand (2016: AED 12,255 thousand). 

11. Trade and other receivables

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Trade receivables 1,774,659 1,212,677 
Unbilled receivables 562,725 600,012

Due from other telecommunications operators 648,489 373,408
Less: payable balances set off where right to set off exists (533,238) (277,232)

Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables and due from other 
telecommunications operators (691,113) (439,793)

Trade and other receivables, net 1,761,522 1,469,072

Prepayments 245,054 228,246
Advances to suppliers 125,911 143,715

Other receivables 101,999 159,857

Total trade and other receivables 2,234,486 2,000,890

Non-current 94,631 32,373
Current 2,139,855 1,968,517

2,234,486 2,000,890

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

At 1 January 439,793 482,797
Provision for impairment 307,256 134,729

Release of provision for impairment during the year - (37,441)
Write-off during the year (55,936) (140,292)

At 31 December 691,113 439,793

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Due from a related party
Axiom Telecom LLC (Entity under common shareholding) 186,196 220,147

Due to related parties
Tecom Investments FZ LLC (Entity under common shareholding)

Khazna Data Center Limited (Associate)
6,951

13,343
6,940
5,796

20,294 12,736

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Entities under common shareholding
 Tecom Investments FZ LLC:

- Office rent and broadcasting services
- Infrastructure cost

 Axiom Telecom LLC – Authorised distributor – net sales
 Injazat Data Systems LLC – Data Centre - rent and telecom services

Associates
 Khazna Data Center Limited – rent and telecom services

 Dubai Smart City Accelerator FZCO- acquisition of shares 
 Khazna Data Center Limited- additional funding

34,576
1,202

1,968,032
2,351

93,017
1,835

16,831

36,933
14,821

2,149,557
9,239

66,648
-
-

Key management compensation
Short term employee benefits

Employees’ end of service benefits
Post-employment benefits

Long term incentives

33,107
699

1,985
9,618

33,879
663

1,434
7,029

45,409 43,005
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12. Related party balances and transactions (continued)
No loan has been provided to Directors, their 
spouses, children and relatives of the second 
degree and any corporates in which they own 
20% or more. 

The Group also provides telecommunication 
services to the Federal Government (including 
Ministries and local bodies). These transactions 

are at normal commercial terms. In accordance 
with IAS 24 (revised 2009): Related Party 
Disclosures, the Group has elected not to 
disclose transactions with the UAE Federal 
Government and other entities over which the 
Federal Government exerts control, joint control 
or significant influence. 

Short term investments represent bank deposits 
with maturity periods exceeding 3 months 
from the date of acquisition. Management 
does not have any intention to hold these 
short term investments for more than 1 year 
from the reporting date. These short term 

investments denominated primarily in UAE 
Dirham, with banks. Interest is earned on these 
short term investments at prevailing market 
rates. The carrying amount of these short term 
investments approximates to their fair value. 

13. Short term investments

14. Cash and bank balances
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise:

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate their fair value.

The details of borrowings are as follows:

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

15. Trade and other payables

16. Borrowings

Current Non-current

2017 2016 2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000

Bank borrowings 
Buyer credit arrangements

1,432,665
28,653

716,332
67,141

2,148,997
7,347

3,581,663
14,693

1,461,318 783,473 2,156,344 3,596,356

Currency
Nominal  

interest rate
Year of 

maturity
Opening 
balance

AED 000
Drawn

AED 000
Settled

AED 000

Closing 
balance

AED 000

Bank borrowings
Unsecured term 

loan 1 USD  LIBOR+0.95% 2020 2,644,920 - (440,820) 2,204,100

Unsecured term 
loan 2 USD  LIBOR+0.95% 2020 1,102,050 - (183,675) 918,375

Unsecured term 
loan 3 USD  LIBOR+0.95% 2020 551,025 - (91,838) 459,187

4,297,995 - (716,333) 3,581,662
Buyer credit 

arrangements
Buyer credit 

arrangement 1      USD  LIBOR+1.20%    2017 59,793 - (59,793) -

Buyer credit 
arrangement 2      USD Nil    2019 22,041 21,306 (7,347) 36,000

81,834 21,306 (67,140) 36,000

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Cash at bank (on deposit and call accounts)
Cash on hand

460,494
631

238,880
618

Less: margin on guarantees (Note 27)
461,125

(63,046)
239,498
(10,793)

Cash and cash equivalents 398,079 228,705

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Short term investments 5,025,000 6,150,000

Trade payables and accruals
Due to other telecommunications operators

Less: receivable balances set off where right to set off exists
Accrued royalty (Note 24)

Deferred revenue
Other payables and accruals

2,075,235
1,323,279
(533,238)
2,054,019

593,773
295,478

2,027,736
1,006,089

(277,232)
2,110,809

638,594
332,214

5,808,546 5,838,210
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2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

At 1 January 225,627 186,887
Current service cost 38,013 33,906

Interest cost (Note 23) 8,447 6,900
Benefits paid during the year (28,929) (15,318)

Actuarial loss/(gain) recognised in other comprehensive income (7,086) 13,252

At 31 December 236,072 225,627

17. Provision for employees’ end of service

18. Provisions
Asset retirement obligations

The Group provides end of service benefits 
(defined benefit obligations) to its eligible 
employees. The most recent actuarial 
valuations of the present value of the 
defined benefit obligations were carried 
out as at 31 December 2017 by a registered 

actuary in the UAE. The present value 
of defined benefit obligations and the 
related current and past service cost, were 
measured using the Projected Unit Credit 
Method. Changes in the present value of 
defined benefit obligations is as follows:

In the course of the Group’s activities a number 
of sites and other commercial premises are 
utilised which are expected to have costs 
associated with exiting and ceasing their use. 
The associated cash outflows are expected 

to occur at the dates of exit of the assets to 
which they relate. These assets are long-term 
in nature, primarily in period up to 10 years 
from when the asset is brought into use.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

The provision is recognised based on the following significant actuarial assumptions:  

The provision is recognised based on the following significant actuarial assumptions:  

20. Share premium

2017 2016

Average period of employment (years) 7.58 7.87
Average annual rate of salary increase 3.00% 3.00%

Discount rate 3.70% 4.00%

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

At 1 January 102,021 88,318
Additions during the year 7,923 10,160

Adjustment for change in discount rate (3,157) -
Unwinding of discount 4,137 3,543

At 31 December 110,924 102,021

2017 2016

Average period of employment (years) 10 10
Average annual rate of salary increase 2.40% 3.00%

Discount rate 3.76% 3.88%

2017 2016
No of shares No of shares

Authorised, issued and fully paid up share capital 
 (par value AED 1 each) 4,532,905,989 4,571,428,571

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Premium on issue of common share capital 232,332 393,504

19.1 Treasury shares: During 2016, the Group 
bought back 38,522,582 ordinary shares from 
founding shareholders under Executive Share 
Option Plan (‘ESOP’) at a total consideration of 
AED 199,695 thousand. Subsequently in 2017, 

the cancellation of these treasury shares were 
approved by the shareholders on 11 January 
2017. Related amendments to Articles of 
Association have been approved and notarized 
as of 27th December 2017 (Note 21.3).

19. Share capital
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21. Other reserves, net of treasury shares

22. Other expenses

23. Finance income and costs

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has paid AED 19,785 thousand
(2016: AED 8,750 thousand) for various social contribution purposes. 

21.2 Hedge reserve is related to derivative 
financial instrument (Note 10).

21.3 Treasury shares represent ordinary shares 
bought back from founding shareholders  
under Executive Share Option Plan (‘ESOP’) 

and the cancellation of these treasury shares 
were approved by the shareholders on  
11 January 2017. Related amendments to 
Articles of Association have been approved and 
notarized as of 27th December 2017 (Note 19.1). 

*Interest expense includes interest cost on defined benefit obligations amounted to AED 8,447 thousand 
(2016: AED 6,900 thousand) (Note 17).

21.1 In accordance with the UAE Federal Law 
No. 2 of 2015 (‘Companies Law’) and the 
Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the 
net profit is required to be transferred annually 

to a non-distributable statutory reserve. Such 
transfers are required to be made until the 
balance of the statutory reserve equals one 
half of the Company’s paid up share capital.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

Share 
based 

payment 
reserve

Statutory 
reserve 

(Note 21.1)

Hedge 
reserve 

(Note 21.2)
Proposed 

dividend

Treasury 
shares 

(Note 21.3) Total
 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000

 At 1 January 2016 1,194 1,069,291 3,033 914,286 - 1,987,804
 Transfer to statutory 

reserve - 175,256 - - - 175,256

 Transfer to retained 
earnings (1,194) - - - - (1,194)

 Interim cash dividend - - - 594,286 - 594,286
 Final cash dividend 

proposed - - - 951,910 - 951,910

 Cash dividends paid - - - (1,508,572) - (1,508,572)
 Fair value changes on 

cash flow hedge - - 3,247 - - 3,247

 Acquisition of treasury 
shares - - - - (199,695) (199,695)

 At 31 December 2016 - 1,244,547 6,280 951,910 (199,695) 2,003,042

 At 1 January 2017 - 1,244,547 6,280 951,910 (199,695) 2,003,042
 Transfer to statutory 

reserve - 171,179 - - - 171,179

 Interim cash dividend - - - 589,278 - 589,278
 Final cash dividend 

proposed - - - 997,239 - 997,239

 Cash dividends paid - - - (1,541,188) - (1,541,188)
 Fair value changes on 

cash flow hedge - - 7,314 - - 7,314

 Cancellation of treasury 
shares - - - - 199,695 199,695

 At 31 December 2017 - 1,415,726 13,594 997,239 - 2,426,559

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Provision for impairment of receivables 304,433 133,912
Consulting and legal expenses 75,035 111,879

Office expenses 67,421 74,510
Others 31,610 39,214

478,499 359,515

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Finance income
Interest income 164,048 143,060

Finance costs
Interest expense* 107,956 114,147

Exchange (gain)/loss, net (5,295) 3,737

102,661 117,884
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24. Royalty 25. Earnings per share

26. Changes in working capital

27. Contingent liabilities
The Group has outstanding bank guarantees amounting to AED 75,204 thousand (2016: AED 10,793). 
Bank guarantees are secured against margin of AED 63,046 thousand (2016: AED 10,793 thousand) 
(Note 14).

28. Commitments

The royalty rates payable to the UAE Ministry of Finance for the period from 2017 to 2021 are 15% 
on regulated revenue and 30% on regulated profit after deducting royalty on regulated revenue.

*The weighted average number of shares for last year 2016 took into account the weighted average 
effect of changes in treasury shares acquired during last year 2016 (Note 19.1).

Diluted earnings per share have not been presented separately as the Group has no commitments 
that would dilute earnings per share.

*During the year 2016, the Group received 
a determination No (1) of 2016 dated 13 
November 2016 from Telecommunications 
Regulatory Authority (TRA) regarding charges 
for indoor mobile site sharing with the other 
telecom operator. This determination included 
a requirement to add revenue based royalty 
charges for site sharing between the two 

operators. The Group based on current 
understanding of the determination, has 
treated this as a reimbursement of royalty.
The net position as at 31 December 2017
is a net payable of AED 6,787 thousands
(2016: AED 5,744 thousand) after considering 
the royalty reimbursement receivable from
the other operator.

Movement in the royalty accruals is as follows: 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Total revenue for the year (Note 31) 13,004,372 12,726,648
Broadcasting revenue for the year (Note 31) (159,161) (167,719)

Other allowable deductions (3,892,359) (3,306,805)

Total adjusted revenue 8,952,852 9,252,124

Profit before royalty 3,749,357 3,863,997
Allowable deductions (96,532) (83,252)

Total regulated profit 3,652,825 3,780,745

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Charge for royalty: 15% (2016:15%) of the total adjusted revenue plus 
30% (2016: 30%) of net regulated profit for the year before distribution 

after deducting 15% (2016: 15%) of the total adjusted revenue.
2,035,897 2,105,697

Adjustments to charge (5,113) -

Charge for the year 2,030,784 2,105,697
Royalty reimbursement (net)* 6,787 5,744

Total royalty charge for the year 2,037,571 2,111,441

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

At 1 January 2,110,809 1,952,569
Payment made during the year (2,087,574) (1,947,457)

Charge for the year 2,030,784 2,105,697

At 31 December (Note 15) 2,054,019 2,110,809

2017 2016

Profit for the year (AED 000) 1,711,786 1,752,556
Weighted average number of shares (‘000’)* 4,532,906 4,565,324
Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED) 0.38 0.38

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Change in:
   Inventories (59,804) 43,658

Trade and other receivables (559,077) (579,905)
Trade and other payables 157,248 498,457

Due from related parties 33,951 (22,697)
Due to related parties 7,558 (15,335)

Net changes in working capital (420,124) (75,822)

28.1  Capital commitments
The Group has outstanding capital commitments amounting to AED 908,656 thousand 
(2016: AED 784,634 thousand).
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28. Commitments (continued)
28.2  Operating leases commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows: 

29. Financial instruments and risk management
29.1 Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount and the fair value of financial assets represent the maximum credit exposure.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

The Group leases a number of warehouses, premises and sites to operate its network.  
The leases typically run for a period of 5 to 20 years with an option to renew the lease upon expiry.
Lease contracts contain terms to allow for annual increase to reflect market rentals. 

For the purpose of the exposure to credit risk on financial assets disclosure, non-financial assets 
amounting to AED 245,054 thousand (2016: AED 228,246 thousand) have been excluded from
trade and other receivables.

Impairment of trade and other receivables
The ageing of trade and other receivables is as follows:

29.2 Liquidity risk
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities along with fair values:

The impairment provision in respect of trade and other receivables is used to record impairment 
losses unless the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point 
the amounts considered irrecoverable are written-off. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Less than one year 440,682 263,589
Between one and five years 631,785 572,062

More than five years 632,942 530,686

1,705,409 1,366,337

Note

Carrying amount Fair value

2017 2016 2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000

Derivatives
Interest rate swap contracts – cash 

flow hedges  10 13,594 6,280 13,594 6,280

Non-derivatives
Available-for-sale financial asset      9 18,368 18,368 18,368 18,368

Trade and other receivables 11 1,989,432 1,628,929 1,989,432 1,628,929
Due from a related party 12 186,196 220,147 186,196 220,147
Short term investments 13 5,025,000 6,150,000 5,025,000 6,150,000
Cash and bank balances 14 461,125 239,498 461,125 239,498

7,680,121 8,256,942 7,680,121 8,256,942

Gross
2017

AED 000

Impaired
2017

AED 000

Gross
2016

AED 000

Impaired
2016

AED 000

Not past due 1,087,577 (40,111) 1,002,001 (29,644)

Past due 0-30 days 362,563 (20,303) 251,656 (13,930)

Past due 31-180 days 444,122 (106,147) 273,769 (53,868)

More than 180 days 1,091,611 (524,552) 658,671 (342,351)

2,985,873 (691,113) 2,186,097 (439,793)

31 December 2017

Contractual cash flows 

Fair value 
AED 000

Carrying 
amount

AED 000
Total

AED 000

6 months 
or less

AED 000

6-12 
months

AED 000
1-2 years
AED 000

Above
2 years

AED 000
Non-derivative 

financial 
liabilities

Borrowings 3,617,662 3,617,662 3,735,189 772,969 763,568 1,477,620 721,032
Trade payables 

and accruals 2,075,235 2,075,235 2,075,235 2,075,235 - - -

Due to other 
telecomm- 

unication  
operators

790,041 790,041 790,041 790,041 - - -

Accrued royalty 2,054,019 2,054,019 2,054,019 2,054,019 - - -
Other payables 

and accruals 295,478 295,478 295,478 295,478 - - -

Due to related 
parties 20,294 20,294 20,294 20,294 - - -

8,852,729 8,852,729 8,970,256 6,008,036 763,568 1,477,620 721,032
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29. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
29.2 Liquidity risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis
A 10 percent strengthening of the AED against the following currencies at 31 December would have 
increased/(decreased) equity and profit by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that 
all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

29.4 Interest rate risk
Exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments was:

Conversely a 10 percent weakening of the AED against the above currencies at 31 December will 
have had the exact reverse effect. In each of the above cases the impact on equity would have the 
same values as the above amounts.

Sensitivity analysis 
An increase of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have decreased equity 
and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. 

Conversely a decrease in interest rates by 100 basis points will have had the exact reverse effect.  
In each of the above cases the impact on equity would have the same values as the above amounts.

During the year, the Group entered into floating to fixed interest rate swaps with corresponding 
banks to hedge the interest rate risk relating to a portion of the floating rate interest payable on 
unsecured bank term loans. Hedged portion of the bank term loans is not included in the sensitivity 
analysis (Note 10).

29.3 Currency risk
Exposure to currency risk
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows:

The following significant exchange rates against AED have been applied during the year:

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

31 December 2016

Contractual cash flows 

Fair value 
AED 000

Carrying 
amount

AED 000
Total

AED 000

6 months 
or less

AED 000

6-12 
months

AED 000
1-2 years
AED 000

Above
2 years

AED 000
Non-derivative 

financial 
liabilities

Borrowings 4,379,829    4,379,829 4,547,570 105,678 758,362 1,495,803 2,187,727
Trade payables 

and accruals 2,027,736 2,027,736 2,027,736 2,027,736 - - -

Due to other 
telecomm- 

unication  
operators

728,857 728,857 728,857 728,857 - - -

Accrued royalty 2,110,809 2,110,809 2,110,809 2,110,809 - - -
Other payables 

and accruals 332,214 332,214 332,214 332,214 - - -

Due to related 
parties 12,736 12,736 12,736 12,736 - - -

9,592,181 9,592,181 9,759,922 5,318,030 758,362 1,495,803 2,187,727

31 December 2017
Thousand

31 December 2016
Thousand

EUR GBP EUR GBP

Trade receivables 4,772 2,385 6,463 835
Trade payables (375) (1,186) (2,758) (1,952)

Net exposure 4,397 1,199 3,705 (1,117)

Average rate Reporting date spot rate
2017 2016 2017 2016

EUR 1 4.1334 4.0594 4.4076 3.8640
GBP 1 4.7249 5.0207 4.9648 4.5333

2017 2016
Increase/(decrease) in profit AED 000 AED 000

EURO (1,817) (1,504)
GBP (567) 561

Carrying Amount
2017 2016

AED 000 AED 000

Variable interest rate instruments
Bank borrowings

Buyer credit arrangements
3,581,662

36,000
4,297,995

81,834

3,617,662 4,379,829

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Decrease in profit
Variable interest rate instruments 20,779 22,943
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29. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
29.5 Financial instruments by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

30. Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously.

The following table presents the recognised financial instruments that are offset in the statement of 
financial position, as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016. 

31. Segment analysis
The Group has operations only in the UAE. 
The Group is organised into four major 
business segments as follows:
• Mobile segment offers mobility services 

to the enterprise and consumer markets. 
Services include mobile voice and data, 
mobile content and mobile broadband WIFI. 
Mobile handset sales, including instalment 
sales, are also included in this segment.

• Fixed segment provides wire line services 
to the enterprise and consumer markets. 
Services include broadband, IPTV, IP/
VPN business internet and telephony.

• Wholesale segment provides voice and 
data services to national and international 
carriers and operators. Services include 
termination of inbound international 
voice traffic, international roaming 
agreements, international hubbing and 
point-to-point leased line connectivity.

• Broadcasting segment delivers integrated 
satellite and broadcasting services to 
broadcasters and media companies.

Segment contribution, referred to by the 
Group as Gross Margin, represents revenue 
less direct costs of sales. It is calculated before 
charging network operating costs, sales and 
general and administration expenses. This is 
the measure reported to the Group’s Board of 
Directors for the purpose of resource allocation 
and assessment of segment performance.

For the purpose of the financial instruments 
disclosure, non-financial assets and non-
financial liabilities amounting to AED 245,054 
thousand and AED  593,773 thousand, 

respectively (2016: AED 228,246 thousand and 
AED 638,594 thousand, respectively) have 
been excluded from trade and other receivables 
and trade and other payables, respectively.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

2017 2016
AED 000 AED 000

Derivative financial instruments 13,594 6,280
Available-for-sale financial asset 18,368 18,368

Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables 1,989,432 1,628,929

Due from a related party 186,196 220,147
Short term investments 5,025,000 6,150,000
Cash and bank balances 461,125 239,498

7,661,753 8,238,574

Borrowings 3,617,662 4,379,829
Trade and other payables 5,214,773 5,199,616

Due to related parties 20,294 12,736

8,852,729 9,592,181

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Gross
amounts

 AED 000 

Gross 
amounts 

set off 
 AED 000 

Net 
amount 

presented 
 AED 000 

Gross 
amounts

 AED 000

 Gross 
amounts 

set off 
 AED 000  

 Net 
amount 

presented 
 AED 000  

Financial assets

Trade and other 
receivables 2,767,724 (533,238) 2,234,486 2,278,122 (277,232) 2,000,890

Total 2,767,724 (533,238) 2,234,486 2,278,122 (277,232) 2,000,890

Financial liabilities
Trade and other  

payables 6,341,784 (533,238) 5,808,546 6,115,442 (277,232) 5,838,210

Total 6,341,784 (533,238) 5,808,546 6,115,442 (277,232) 5,838,210
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

31 December 2016
Mobile

AED 000
Fixed

AED 000
Wholesale

AED 000
Broadcasting

AED 000
Total

AED 000

Segment revenue 9,618,022 2,171,644 769,263 167,719 12,726,648
Segment 

contribution 6,554,116 1,851,419 116,725 64,927 8,587,187

Unallocated costs - - - - (4,801,503)

Finance income and 
costs,  other income 

and share of profit 
of investments 

accounted for using 
equity method 

- - - - 78,313

Profit before royalty - - - - 3,863,997

Royalty - - - - (2,111,441)

Profit for the year - - - - 1,752,556

31 December 2017
Mobile

AED 000
Fixed

AED 000
Wholesale

AED 000
Broadcasting

AED 000
Total

AED 000

Segment revenue 9,732,325 2,286,207 826,679 159,161 13,004,372
Segment 

contribution 6,432,231 1,940,476 90,888 57,476 8,521,071

Unallocated costs - - - - (4,846,814)

Finance income and 
costs,  other income 

and share of profit 
of investments 

accounted for using 
equity method 

- - - - 75,100

Profit before royalty - - - - 3,749,357

Royalty - - - - (2,037,571)

Profit for the year - - - - 1,711,786

The Group’s assets and liabilities have not been 
identified to any of the reportable segments 
as the majority of the operating fixed assets 
are fully integrated between segments. The 
Group believes that it is not practical to provide 
segment disclosure relating to total assets and 
liabilities since a meaningful segregation of 
available data is not feasible.

32. Comparatives
In order to conform with current year 
presentation, the comparative figures for the 
previous year has been regrouped, where 
necessary. Such regrouping did not affect the 
previously reported profit, comprehensive 
income or equity.

31. Segment analysis (continued)
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